BRIEF FACTS OF THE CASE

This is a case of de-novo adjudication consequent to the order passed by Hon’ble CESTAT, Ahmedabad vide its Order No. A/11395-11397/2013 dated 24.10.2013 and subsequent order no. A/10352/2014 dated 10.03.2014, wherein the Hon’ble CESTAT had observed that- 
“appellant herein has been taking a plea that the adjudicating authority has not considered their statutory documents and shipping bills of the furnace oil, which was loaded on to the ocean going vessels” and “adjudicating authority has not addressed the important pleas raised by the appellant as regards the scrutiny of the document, which has been signed by the departmental officer, which would indicate export of bonded goods”. On this account, the CESTAT has asked the adjudicating authority to reconsider the issue afresh and pass an order on merits. 

2.
M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Manali Chamber, Sector-1A, Plot No.- 306,  Gandhidham (hereinafter referred as ‘M/s World Link’ for short) being a trading unit was engaged in the activities of import of High Speed Diesel, Furnace Oil, Naptha, Liquor, etc. at the port of Kandla. All the items except Naphtha were being imported under Bond and sold to other parties under Bond-to-Bond transfer. The imported Diesel Oil (DO for short) and Furnace Oil (FO for short) were always supplied to the vessels only as the bunker fuel. M/s World Link was importing HSD, Furnace Oil and getting the same Warehoused in terms of Section 58 and Section 85 of the Customs Act, 1962 for re-export thereof (as per Para 2.35 and 2.36 of FTP 2004-09) including for supply to the foreign going vessels in respect of which they used to file undertaking in terms of Section 59 of the Customs Act, 1962 (CA, 1962 for short). The warehousing of imported bunker fuel was done in the registered Warehousing Tanks, duly authorized in terms of Section 58 of the CA, 1962. M/s World Link having IEC No. 3798000603, was regularly showing supply/export of the FO & HSD as bonded bunker to the foreign going vessels at various ports of Gujarat under the various Shipping Bills (meant for Export of Duty Free Goods Ex-bond) filed at the Customs House, Kandla and such supplies were made under procedure of Bond to Bond transfer under the supervision of the Customs Officers. 

3.   
On receipt of the intelligence that the said trader viz. M/s World Link was engaged in the diversion of the Bonded Bunker meant only for the foreign run vessels in terms of the Shipping Bills filed with the Customs and M/s Zee Shipping Services, Flat no.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar, Gujarat had arranged the supplies of the bunkers, for M/s world Link TC, at Sikka, Vadinar, Pipavav and Bedi Ports, through the Barges namely Hope Island, Hope Island-II & Zee-II. In view of this the office premises of M/s Zee Shipping Services, was searched and records relating to supplies of bunker were resumed under Panchanama dated 24.08.2007. Subsequently office premises of M/s World Link TC, was searched on 19.09.2007 by the Officers of Directorate of Revenue Intelligence (DRI Officers for short) and relevant records pertaining to the supply of bunkers were taken into possession viz. Shipping Bills, Master’s requisition, Bills of Entry (Bs/E), etc.

4.
A statement of Sh. Rakesh M. Barai, one of the partners of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar was recorded on 24.08.2007 and  wherein he stated, inter-alia, that M/s Zee Shipping Services was engaged in the Ship Supplies of Provisions, Fresh Water, Bunker, Stores etc. to the Foreign as well as Coastal Ships coming at various ports mainly in Saurashtra; that they did not have the CHA License, however they had permission of Customs for working as the Ship Store Supplier at the Jamnagar, Sikka, & Vadinar Ports; besides that they had License issued by Directorate General of Shipping, Mumbai for supply of Bunker (HSD, Diesel, Furnace Oil, Fuel Oil, Lubricating Oil etc.); that first they used to receive the order for bunker-supply from the Owners, Charters or the Brokers through the Fax or through the e-mail the copy of which was produced by them to the party from where they intended to purchase the Bunker and then they used to submit the Shipping Bill in Customs House, at the Port where supply was to be made to the vessel; that after the Shipping Bill was filed by them, the Superintendent of the Customs House, used to order on the duplicate copy of Shipping Bill, for the examination of the Bunker coming at the port through Barges or the Tanker Trucks (TTs) and then the Inspector of Customs on duty used to examine the Bunker in TTs or in Barges and then made an endorsement on the Shipping Bills to that effect; that only after confirmation through examination of bunker, the same was allowed to be loaded into the barge, and then the Barge would move to the place where Ship had anchored and thus the supply of bunker was effected; that wherever barges came with bunker directly to the port there was no unloading in the barges at the jetty and the bunker was supplied directly to the ship from the barges and after the bunker unloaded into the vessel the Master/Chief Engineer of the Vessel used to endorse and certify the quantity of bunker supply on the Shipping Bill (duplicate copy) along with the Customs Officer who supervised the unloading; that only after completing the supply of bunker to the ship, they used to receive payment through cheque from the Owners, Charters, Broker or agents who had placed the orders for supply of bunkers; that the above formalities was adopted by the Customs in case of supply of Bunker whether under Bond or duty paid. On being asked about the supply of bunker to the foreign going vessels under the Shipping Bills, filed at the Customs House, Kandla or Mundra he stated that they used to arrange supplies of bunker in such cases if these supplies were  made to the Ships at the Saurashtra Ports; that in such cases they also looked after all the Customs related formalities; that M/s Link Enterprises, M/s BGH Exim Ltd., M/s World Link TC Bond Store, M/s Adani Enterprises Ltd. etc. were the parties in respect of which it was their responsibility to cause the supply of bunker to the foreign going vessels; that they were supplying Bunker to the foreign going vessels at the ports of Sikka, Vadinar & Jamnagar and where they were submitting the Shipping Bills in the name of  the suppliers with the above named Customs Houses; that they were  causing supply of bunker to the vessels only through three Bunker Barges namely Dumb Barge Zee-II, MT Hope Island & MT Hope Island-II; that dumb Barge Zee-II belonged to them and MT Hope Island and MT Hope Island-II belonged to M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., Gandhidham owned by Sh. Dushyant Patel; that as regarding the Tanker Trucks, they were utilizing services of various transporters in carrying the bunkers from the Port of Kandla, Mundra to the Port of Shipments and wherein the Tankers belonged to the transporters and they made  payment to the transporters for the same; that the time taken by the barges in carrying bunkers from Kandla to Jamnagar or Sikka was around 6 to 7 hours, and between Jamnagar to Mundra it would be around 8 hours; that a barge would take 21/2 days from Hazira to Jamnagar and would unload around 40 to 50 KL of Bunker into vessels in one hour. After completion of supply, the Shipping Bills were duly endorsed by the Master/Chief Engineer of the recipient vessels and the Customs Officers who physically supervised supply to the vessels. Then duplicate Shipping Bill was retained by the concerned Customs Houses, for filing the same with the Export General Manifest (EGM) of the recipient vessels. 

5.
A statement of Sh. Dushyant R. Patel, partner of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Gandhidham was recorded on 04.12.2007 wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that beside him, Sh. Hukumat Bhojwani was another partner, who was also a resident of Gandhidham; that  M/s World Link TC Bond Store started 12 - 14 years back and was importing FO, Diesel, Naphtha and Liquor at Kandla Port; that except Naphtha, all other goods were imported under Bond and were also sold to other parties under Bond-to-Bond transfer; that they used to supply the DO, FO, & Liquor imported by them to the Foreign going Vessels only and sell Naphtha to the actual users only; that all other works related to the import, supply and other commercial transactions including Customs, Income Tax, Banking, day-to-day works of the company etc. were being looked after by him and he was responsible for all the transactions of the company; that the above goods were imported in the Tanker Vessels which come to Kandla Port with the Import Cargo like FO, Diesel, Naphtha for which they used to file In-Bond Bills of Entry (Bs/E for short) with the Custom House, Kandla for clearance of the imported goods; that the Oil Tanker Vessels were not chartered but arrive with the Import Cargo of 2-3 other Bunker Suppliers also; that once the In-Bond Bs/E were assessed by the Appraiser, on the strength of the Warehousing Bond, Commercial Invoice, Load Port Survey Report, Bill of Lading (B/L for short), Insurance Certificates, etc. were submitted by their CHA viz. M/s Asia Shipping Services, Gandhidham and Custom’s Out-of-Charge was obtained in respect of the cargo imported by them; that thereafter the above mentioned imported Petroleum Products were allowed to be discharged into the Warehousing Tanks at the Indian Molasses Co. (IMC), United Storage & Tank Terminals Ltd. (USTTL), Friends Salt Works & Allied Industries (FSWAI), & Friends Oil & Chemical Terminals (FOCT); that he was unable to give detailed accounts of import related procedures as all such works were being looked after by their CHA; that  in regard to the storage charges of the bunkers in the Warehousing Tanks they had  to pay rent approximately Rs. 140 - 150 per day PMT; that they were getting the Survey Report, in respect of Imported goods stocked at various Tanks and besides that a detailed account in respect of above was also maintained at the Customs House, Kandla (CH, Kandla for short); that the Customs maintained the Tank wise records of the imported Bunker and as regard keeping day-to-day stock position of the Bunker Tank wise, they were also  maintaining the same in their Office Computer; that against each supply made from a particular tanks they used to debit the quantity in their account from time to time; that FO was stored in the Tanks no. 3 of IMC inside Port area, Cargo Jetty &  Diesel was used to be stored in the Tanks of FSWAI at Old Kandla; that at first they used to receive written orders from any of the Shipping Agent/Master of the Vessel/Ship Owners/Broker of Ship/Traders/Local Agents, based on which they used to confirm about the genuineness of Order from the Master or Chief Engineer of the Vessel for which Bunker Order was received and only after that they used to file the Shipping Bill (S/B for short) in triplicate in Bond Section of CH, Kandla for in-bond clearance of the Bunker for the intended vessel; that they used to submit the Written Order with the S/B after which the noting of S/B was done which was checked and signed by the Customs Officer of the Bond Section; that after the S/B was signed as above, they used to take posting of the Preventive Officer (PO for short) for loading of Bunker from the Warehousing Tanks; that thereafter the PO so posted used to come to the Warehousing Tanks where Tanker Lorry sent by them were awaiting loading there from; that thereafter PO used to break open the seal on the Warehousing Tanks and then loading used to be permitted/started into the awaiting Lorry Tankers in his (PO’s) presence, who remained present at the loading site to ensure loading as per the S/B; that once the loading was completed, the Tankers were weighed in presence of the PO and thereafter Customs seal used to be placed on the loaded tankers by them; that the Survey Seal was also placed on the Lorry Tanker so loaded, by the surveyors who used to carry out the survey of the empty as well as the loaded Lorry Tankers; that a examination report, mentioning numbers of Lorry Tankers along with the loaded quantity on each one to the effect of the above was then made on all the 03 copies of the S/B on the reverse side and in case of the Vessels showing receipt of Bunkers at the Ports other than Kandla, the above procedure used to be adopted in all cases of bunker supply without fail; that thereafter the sealed Tankers were permitted to proceed to the port where the vessel awaiting; that they used to provide the Xerox copies of the S/B along with the Lorry Receipt of the Tanker to the driver and used to ask him to proceed to the Port where the intended vessel was awaiting; that their employee, meanwhile also used to carry all the 03 Copies of the S/B in Original to the concerned Customs House, and used to submit the S/B to the Superintendent who in turn used to order to the Inspector on duty in writing on reverse of the S/B to check the seal and examine the Bunker; that only after the examination of the Lorry Tanker loaded with Bonded Bunker by the Inspector and if found in order, he used to permit supply of the Bunker to the foreign going vessel; that thereafter the Customs Inspector used to endorsed the S/B to the effect of the same separately i.e. separate endorsements for Checking of Seal and Supervision of Loading of bunker; that after completion of loading of bunker into the vessel, the Master/Chief Engineer of the vessel endorsed the S/B to the effect of the full shipment on all the 03 copies of S/B along with the Inspector who supervised the loading, thereafter the Landing Certificates under his signature and the Customs Inspector was used to be issued; that the above practice was followed in all cases of the Bunker Supply to the foreign going vessel without fail; that in case of the Bunker supply to the out station ports they also used to file a Transit Bond of an amount equal to the Import Duty on the Bunker being supplied at the time of filing of S/B, which was used to released to them on production of the Original Copy of the S/B along with the Landing Certificate and the original duplicate Copy of the S/B was always handed to the Shipping Agent of the Vessel showing receipt of Bunker for enclosing the same in the EGM and the original triplicate Copy of the S/B was used to be retained by them; that they used to verify/confirm  the signature of the Chief Engineer or the Master of the vessel on the basis of the Stamp/Seal of the same, mentioning therein the name of the Vessel and Rank of the officials signing, besides that they also used to confirm the signature on the basis of the shipping documents like IGM/EGM of the subject vessel lying with the Shipping Agent wherein the sample signatures of the Chief Engineer and the Master were usually available; that as regard the Bunker supply through the Bunker Barges, the procedure was same upto the point of loading of Bunker first from the Warehousing Tanks into the Lorry Tankers and weighment and sealing thereof; that thereafter the loaded & sealed Lorry Tankers used to come to the place where Bunker Barge used to await the loading of Bonded Bunker under escort of the PO posted as above and then the seal of Lorry Tankers used to be opened and the discharging into the Barge in presence of the PO started; that after completion of loading, the PO used to seal the Barge receiving the Bonded Bunker and subsequently used to endorse each copy of the S/B to the effect of the above mentioning therein the name of the Bunker Barges along with the number of the Lorry Tankers and quantity of Bunker loaded; that thereafter the loaded and sealed Bunker Barges would proceed to the Port/anchorage where the intended vessel was awaiting for supply of bunker; that meanwhile their  employee used to proceed to the concerned Custom House by road with the S/B (in triplicate) and submit the same to the Superintendent of Customs, who in turn used to order on S/B for checking of seal and examination of Bunker to the Customs Inspector on duty; that thereafter they hire a Boat by which their employee and the Customs Inspector on duty used to proceed to the anchorage of the respective ports where their  Bunker Barge as well intended vessel awaited Bunker Supply; that the Customs Inspector after checking of seals and examination of the Bunker and if found in order used to allow the supply to the Vessel; that thereafter the Bunker was transferred from the Bunker Barge to the foreign going vessel in presence of the Customs Inspector and the Chief Engineer or Master of the Vessel; that once the loading completed the Chief Engineer (CE) or the Master of the Vessel would endorse the S/B in triplicate in this regard and the Customs Inspector also used to make examination report regarding supervision of Bunker supply on the Shipping Bill mentioning therein the date of shipment, quantity of Bunker supplied actually and the name of the Bunker Barge from which Bunker transferred to the vessel; that the landing certificate was also being issued at this stage under signature of the Master or CE of Vessel and the Customs Inspector supervising Loading of Bunker after which they used to hand over the duplicate S/B to the Shipping Agent, Original Shipping Bill with Landing Certificate to the Customs House, Kandla and triplicate Shipping Bill would be  retained by them;  that they were using only two Bunker Barges namely MT Hope Island and MT Hope Island-II for supply of Bunker to the vessels at various out-station ports; that they had been using these two Barges since the last two years and prior to this they used MT Viking Star and MT Cape Star; that MT Hope Island has maximum capacity of 425 MT and MT Hope Island-II has maximum loading capacity of 550 MT; that both these bunker barges were owned by M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., Sector-1A, Plot No.-306, Gandhidham, where he was one of the Directors along with other two Directors namely S/Sh. Hukumat Bhojwani and Ashwin Gandhi; that as regarding Masters of the two Bunker Barges S/Sh. Viman Ghosh & Gautam Sapui were the present Masters in MT Hope Island and Hope Island-II respectively who were in the said two barges since around a year. He further stated that as regard earlier Masters of these two Bunker Barges, he would  provide the name(s) in a short time; that a Lorry Tanker was taking around 45 -60 minutes for loading / unloading and likewise in case of Bunker Barge, it could be loaded simultaneously by two Lorry Tanker as it has two points for loading, and it would take around two hours for loading of 60 MTs (approx.); that hence for loading of around 480 MTs of Bunker it would take around 16 Hours for loading into Bunker Barges; that the discharging / unloading would take around 05 hours; that their bunker barges had a pumping capacity of 100 MTs/ hour; that it would take around 6 Hours from Kandla to Sikka/Bedi and 3 Hours around for Mundra to Sikka/Bedi under normal weather conditions; that for Vadinar, it would take around 7 Hours from Kandla and 4 Hours from Mundra under normal weather conditions; that normally his bunker barges were taking around 48 Hours from Bedi to Hazira or from Sikka to Hazira; that M/s Zee Shipping Services used to look after the Customs and Port formalities viz. they used to obtain Customs clearance on their behalf in case of Bunker Supply at Sikka, Vadinar & Bedi/Jamnagar; that in case of Bunker supply at Vadinar, Bedi and Sikka, the bunker transfer to vessels used to take place at the anchorage Point and they (M/s Zee Shipping) used to look after their Bunker supply at the anchorage point at the three above-stated ports; that in case of supply of around 30 - 50 MT of HSD they were sending Sealed Lorry Tankers of HSD from Kandla and then they used to take service of the bunker barge of M/s Zee Shipping Services for supply of HSD which was a  Dumb Barge Zee-II owned by M/s Zee Shipping Services; that in case the Order was received through Ship Owner/Shipping Agents/Brokers/Overseas Agents, they  used to receive payments through Bank Remittances in Foreign Exchange but in case of Order for Bunker Supply received from Local Agent, they  received  the payment through cheques in INR; that he provided the name of such parties as (i) M/s Anchor Shipping, Gandhidham, (ii) M/s Link Enterprises, Gandhidham,  (iii) M/s Vibhuti Shipping Pvt. Ltd., Gandhidham, (iv) M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, (v) M/s Gujarat Mariners, Gandhidham and (vi) M/s Noble Shipping Private Limited, Singapore; that the above parties were  acting as the Owner’s agent; that except M/s Noble Shipping Pvt. Ltd. from whom payment was received in foreign currency, they  received payment through Bank Cheques in INR for Bunker Supply; that he produced  the list of the above parties with their addresses mentioned therein. He further stated that they always confirmed the genuineness of the Orders from the Shipping Agent of the Vessels whenever Order was not received from Ship Owners directly, who in turn confirmed  the same from the Master of the Vessel intended to receive the Bunker; that M/s Zee Shipping Services, M/s Link Enterprises, M/s Adani Enterprises Ltd., M/s Adani Export Ltd., and M/s Gujarat Mariners used to employ their two Bunker Barges namely MT Hope Island and MT Hope Island-II for effecting Bunker Supply to the Vessels at various Ports on hire basis; that in addition to above, they had  a contract with M/s Indian Oil Corporation Ltd., (in name of M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport) for bunker supply through their  two Barges. He further stated that in case of supply of Bunker by M/s Adani Enterprises Ltd. (Ex. M/s Adani Export Ltd.,)  by said  two Barges, Bunker Transfer from barge to vessels was arranged by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar; that once the Bunker Barge started  from Kandla with Bonded Bunker in case of supply by M/s Adani Enterprises, their employee used to come to the concerned Custom House with the S/B; that in case of Bunker Supply by M/s Adani Enterprises through their two bunker barges from Mundra Port, all the formalities at Mundra was taken care of by M/s Adani Enterprises themselves but at the Port of Shipment i.e. at Sikka, Bedi or Vadinar, the Customs formalities and supply were used to looked after by them  through M/s Zee Shipping Services; that they used to hire lorry tankers for transportation /supply of Bunkers through of M/s Harikrupa Transport, Gandhidham only 
6.
 Based on the statement of Sh. Dushyant Patel, that the supplies of bonded bunker  to   the vessels were made using their barge Hope Island and Hope Island-II, the Masters of the two barges were also examined under Section 108 of CA, 1962 as under:-

6.1.
Statement of Sh. Gautam Sapui, Master of barge, Hope Island-II was recorded on 10.01.2008, wherein besides other things he voluntarily inter-alia stated that  he was on board of the Hope Island-II and was controlling all operations as Master; that he was on Barge since July, 2007 and was working as per instructions of Sh. Dushyant Patel for loading of bunkers and supply thereof to the concerned vessels; that Hope Island-II was engaged in loading and unloading of bunkers from Kandla and Mundra Ports to various other ports; that they used to maintain Log Book wherein date wise details relating to the movement, operations like loading/unloading of the petroleum products are mentioned; that they did not maintain any Voyage Book/Advise Book, which should have been otherwise to be maintained; that through pipelines it took around 6-7 hours for full loading of Hope Island-II and through Tanker Trucks it took normally around 12 Hours for full loading; discharging was done by Hope Island-II into the vessel at the speed of 120 KL per hour provided that the vessel was on equal elevation, however if the recipient vessel was on higher elevation, discharging would be done at the speed of 80-90 KL per hour; that he was supervising loading and discharging hence he had an idea about the same; that loading at Mundra was done through Pipeline however at Kandla loading of bunker used to be done through the tanker Trucks always; that from Kandla it took 6 hours to reach Sikka anchorage, 7 hours for Vadinar anchorage and 41/2 hours for Bedi anchorage under normal weather conditions; that from Mundra it took around 2 hours to reach Sikka / Vadinar anchorage, however for Bedi anchorage he had no idea then as he never visited Bedi from Mundra; that all instructions regarding visit, loading / unloading were coming from Sh. Dushyant Patel; that loading of bunker was done in presence of the Surveyor and crews of barge in case loading is done through the Tanker Trucks and in presence of Surveyor  and Loading Master in case loading was done through the Pipelines at Mundra; that the surveyors (from SGS, JV Voda & Co.,etc.) used to come to the supply point on their barge; that as regards the documents they used to receive the Sailing Memo for the port of supply and the Surveyor used to come with them along with the concerned S/Bs and then the supply to vessel was effected in presence of Engineer of recipient vessels and the surveyor at Sikka, Vadinar or Bedi anchorage; that Customs Officers used to remain present at the time of loading but at the anchorage during discharging of bunker into vessel no body from Customs used to come there and the supplies were effected in presence of surveyor always. He was shown the two Log Books of Hope Island-II maintained during the period from 12.01.2007 to 05.04.2007 and from 06.04.2007 to 29.06.2007 and after seeing the same he identified that the handwriting therein were  of S/Sh. Mithilesh Kumar, Girish Patel and of Dharmendra Kumar, which was maintained as per instruction of Sh. Girish Patel; that sometimes they used to load Bunker for more than one vessel, if the vessels to which delivery was to be made were in one port only; that such supplies  were always used to be mentioned in the Log Book; 
6.2.
A statement of Sh. Viman Ghosh, Master of barge Hope Island was recorded on 10.01.2008 wherein besides other thing he voluntarily inter-alia, stated that, he  joined Hope Island since, August, 2006 as a Quarter Master, and was promoted to the rank of Master in July, 2007; that since then he was looking after the loading/unloading of liquid cargo and movement of the Barge from one Port to another, for which he used to take all the instruction regarding loading/unloading, when and how to start from Sh. Dushyant Patel; that the barge Hope Island was engaged in loading/unloading of the Bunkers from Kandla and Mundra Ports to various other ports and the said operations were being done as per instructions of Sh. Dushyant Patel; that he was competent to give all answers in respect of Hope Island since he was employed on it; that they used to maintain Log Book on Barge wherein time and date wise all details relating to the movement, operations e.g. loading and unloading of the petroleum products were mentioned; that they were not maintaining any Voyage Book and Advise Book which he accepted was a fault; that Hope Island had a capacity of 370 KL against which they were loading maximum 400 KL of bunker at a time; that the said barge took around five hours for full loading of bunker through pipeline and around 10-12 hours for full loading through Tanker Trucks and the discharging was done into vessel at the speed of 120 KL per hour provided that the vessel should be on equal elevation, however if the receiving vessel was on higher elevation discharging would be done at the speed of 80-90 KL per hour; that from Kandla it would take 6, 7 and 41/2 hours to reach Sikka, Vadinar and Bedi respectively by Hope Island and from Mundra it would take around two hours to reach anchorage of Sikka or Vadinar; that he did not have any idea of Bedi as he never went there however he stated that it would take around 31/2 hours; that all instructions were coming from Sh. Dushyant Patel; that loading of bunker was done in presence of the Surveyor and crew of barge in case loading is done through the Tanker Trucks and in presence of Surveyor and Loading Master in case loading was done through the Pipelines at Mundra; then the surveyors (from SGS, JV Voda & Co.,etc.) also used to come to the supply point on their barge; that they simply used to receive the Sailing Memo for the port of supply and the Surveyor used to come alongwith the concerned S/Bs and then supply to the vessel used to be done in presence of Engineer of recipient vessels and the surveyor at Sikka, Vadinar or Bedi anchorage; that Customs Officers used to remain present at the time of loading, but at the anchorage during discharging of bunker into vessel no body from Customs used to come there and the supplies were done always in presence of the surveyor. He was then shown the Log Book of Hope Island maintained during the period from 30.03.2005 to 06.09.2007 and after perusing the same he identified that the same was written by Sh. Samir Hazra (Handler) except for the period from 09.03.2007 to 26.04.2007, the Log Book was written by Sh. Raju who left the company; that the Log Book was not signed by any Crew/Officer of Hope Island to he admitted the mistake; that he had Second Class Certificate issued by Mercantile Maritime Department, Kolkata however the same was not available with him at that moment; that he was also aware that he could not be the Master of a Barge as he did not possess necessary qualifications, required for becoming the Master of the Barge; that sometimes they received bunker for two vessels at a time however the same was always entered in the Log Book; that they supplied bunker to vessels at ports like Sikka, Vadinar, Bedi, Kandla, Mundra & Navlakhi only and never he had supplied any bunker to vessels at Dahej, Hazira, Magdalla ports. 
6.3.
Sh. Girish Patel was the Master of Bunker Barge Hope Island-II and his statement was recorded on 16.01.2008 wherein besides other thing he voluntarily inter-alia stated that he was on the said Barge from 15.02.2007 to 20.10.2007 (signed off on 20.10.2007) as the Master and that the barrage was owned by the M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport, Gandhidham of Sh. Dushyant Patel, and his (Sh. Patel) instructions were followed in the supply of Bunker to any vessels; that as the Master he was responsible for smooth and safe running and operation of the Barge and his  decisions used to be final in relation to the voyage, and operation of the Barge like Bunker Loading and supply to the vessel; that the Hope Island-II received/loaded  Bunker at Kandla and Mundra port only and then supplied to vessels at the anchorage of Bedi, Sikka, Hazira and Vadinar; that loading capacity of Barge Hope Island-II is 550 MT, but they never loaded more than 550 MT of HSD, or Fuel Oil or Furnace Oil; that they were maintaining the Log Book and Oil Record Book under his supervision (maintained by the Chief Officer/ Chief Engineer or the available crew); that bunker at Mundra and Kandla Ports were loaded in presence of the supplier’s Surveyor and then the same was supplied to vessels at anchorage of Sikka, Vadinar, Bedi Ports only in the presence of surveyor and the Engineer of the recipient vessel; that it was the surveyor who was placing seal on the barge after completion of loading and then the same was always removed by himself only in presence of the Engineer of recipient vessel before commencing supply; that as the Master he was only concerned with transportation of bunker up to the vessel intended to received bunker; that after making supply of bunker to the vessel at anchorage he always sailed back to Kandla or Mundra without receipt of any Port Clearance as nobody was coming at the time of supply and then departing for Mundra or Kandla Ports; that through Cellphone they were used to be informed about issuance of Port Clearance from the Customs; that after seeing the entries of 12th & 13th January, 2007, in the Log Book of the barges Hope Island & Hope Island-II and the corresponding entries in the Oil Record Books of the said barges he stated that the bunker was first received by Hope Island-II from Barge Hope Island and then it was shown that supply to vessel was made through Hope Island-II; that after seeing the statement dated 10.01.2008 of Sh. Gautam Sapui, Master of Hope Island-II he expressed his full agreement to the fact stated there under and further added that Sh. Gautam Sapui was actually a mere handler on Hope Island-II and he (Gautam) was not competent to be the Master of Hope Island-II; that he was not having requisite certificate to be the master of any vessel; that any bunker barge plying in the sea must be commandeered by the Captain having approval of Director General of Shipping or the MMD; that he left Hope Island-II since 20.10.2007 and since then he never went on board the said barge. He was later shown the (i) Port Clearance No. C-329 dated 07.01.2008 issued by Customs, Kandla and list of Crew Members of the same date, and (ii) Port Clearance No. C-178 dated 07.01.2008 issued by Superintendent of Customs (MPSEZ), Custom House, Mundra, No Dues Certificate dated 07.01.2008 of Mundra Port and Crew List of the barge of the same date and then he was asked to explain as why his name appeared there as Master/ Captain of the barge Hope Island-II and upon which he stated that categorically that he never boarded the barge since the date he signed off on 20.10.2007; that he also stated that Mr. Suresh R. Pillai, Chief Engineer whose name also appeared in the Crew Lists was also incorrectly mentioned as he had left the barge approximately in May, 2007; that Mr. A.N. Verghese, whose name appeared as Chief Officer in the Crew List was serving on the barge during the period prior to his  joining the company/ barge Hope Island-II; that he was not aware as how the name of the persons not on board were shown in the Crew List. 

7.
On request the concerned Customs House with regard to the EGMs of the recipient vessels, the respective Customs House of Sikka, Jamnagar, Vadinar, Pipavav etc. provided the documents. However, many EGMs forwarded by the Customs were found without original copy of duplicate Shipping Bills enclosed therein citing that the same were not traceable and efforts were on to locate the same, as detailed under:- 

	Sr. No.
	Customs House
	Letter No.

	1.
	Jamnagar
	1. VIII/12-02/CHJ/INFO/03-04/1196 dated 29.08.2007

2. VIII/12-02/CHJ/INFO/03-04/1923 dated 13.03.2008

	2.
	Sikka
	1. VIII/48-24/DPS-INV-Bunker/CHS/ 2007 dated 27.08.2007

2.  VIII/48-04/Misc/CHS/2007 dated 07.09.2007

3.  VIII/48-04/MISC/2007 dated 25.10.2007

4.  VIII/48-01/Misc/2007 dated 30.10.2007

5.  VIII/48-01/Misc/2007 dated 19.11.2007

6.  VIII/48-01/Bunker/2007/936 dated 07.07.2008

7.  VIII/48-01/Bunker/2007 dated 18.11.2008

8.  VIII/48-01/Bunker/2007 dated 01.12.2008

	3.
	Vadinar
	1. VIII/48-03/Misc./VDR/2007-08/98 dated 19.09.2007

2. VIII/48-03/Misc./VDR/2007-08/145 dated 10.10.2007

3. VIII/48-03/Misc./VDR/2007-08 dated 04.01.2008

	4.
	Pipavav
	1. VIII/48-IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1458 dated 26.10.2007

2. VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1749 dated 19.11.2007.


8.
The xerox copies of the S/Bs were obtained from the Customs House, Kandla, where these were filed. The aforesaid documents resumed from the bunker suppliers viz. M/s World Link and from other connected parties related to supplies of bunkers by them, and the EGMs received from the offices of the Customs Houses and S/Bs, wherever enclosed in the EGMs were later scrutinized and it was found that M/s World Link had shown supplies of bonded bunkers namely FO and HSD to the foreign run vessels at Port of Sikka, Bedi, Kandla, Mundra, Pipavav, Mul-Dwarka, Porbandar, Okha etc. Further, it was found from the scrutiny of the records that the supply of Bonded Bunker was made under the S/B meant for “Export of Duty Free Goods”, which was first endorsed by the Customs Officers of Kandla having designation as PO (Bond), C.H., Kandla and PO (Gate), C.H., Kandla for supervising loading in Tanker Trucks (TTs) from Warehousing Tanks and then into Bunker Barges from Tanker Trucks. Permission for “Let Export” was obtained from the Superintendent of Customs, Customs House, Kandla in the S/Bs before the bunker would be dispatched for the recipient vessels. In some cases, it was found that where bunker dispatched from Kandla without “Let Export” from Superintendent of Customs at Customs House, Kandla, and the said permission was obtained from the Superintendent of Customs, at the Port of Supply like at Sikka Port and at Bedi Port. After the Bunker was arriving at the port of supply where recipient vessel would be awaiting, the Customs authority of the concerned Customs Houses were putting in their endorsement on the relevant S/B for Supervision of Supply to the vessel except as otherwise in some cases “Let Export” permission would also be granted by the Customs Superintendent there. It was found from the S/Bs that the supplies of bunker to the vessels were shown through TTs as well as through the Bunker Barges. Because of the reasons vessels at Bedi, Sikka, Vadinar Ports were receiving bunker only at the anchorage point, the supply to vessels at these ports would be possible only through the bunker barges. In case of bunker supplies to the vessels at Bedi, Vadinar and Sikka Ports, Barges with Bunker were coming directly from the Kandla Port as well as in some cases Bonded Bunker were coming first upto the port of supply in TTs and then from Jetty of the said Port same were carried and supplied to the recipient vessels through the Bunker Barges. Log Books, Oil Record Books, kept and maintained by bunker barges, Hope Island & Hope island-II were also recovered under Panchanama dated 19.09.2007 from office of M/s World Link TC Bond Store and obtained under provisions of Section 108 of the Customs Act, 1962 from barge Operator Company. Similarly vide letter dated 22.09.2008, Sh. Rakesh Barai, Partner of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar presented the list of transportations of all supplies of bunker through barge Zee-II owned by them. On examination of records withdrawn from various premises of the concerned parties as above and as received from the concerned Customs Houses, various anomalies, deficiencies and inconsistencies were noticed, based on which supplies of bonded bunker were not confirming as purportedly shown by the said party through the S/Bs. 

9.
Statements of the Shipping Agents of the recipient vessels were also recorded under Section 108 of the CA, 1962, in view of the facts that NOC is essentially required to be taken from the Shipping Agent of the intended recipient vessel before making any supply of bonded bunker. In case of supplies of bonded bunker by M/s World Link,  it was found that the recipient vessels were under shipping agency of M/s Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., M/s Interocean Shipping (India) Private limited, and M/s GAC Shipping (India) Pvt. Ltd. all based at Jamnagar and Sikka. Further, most of the EGMs of the recipient vessels did not show any bunker receipt at the port, which is in contravention of the Regulation 3 (1) of the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations, 1976. The Shipping Agents were fully aware of the legal provisions relating to entry of ship store supply/bunker supply in the EGM of the recipient vessels. In view of the above statements of the shipping agents were relevant for the subject investigation. The voluntary statements tendered by the Shipping Agents under Customs Act, 1962, are reproduced hereunder in brief:- 

9.1.
A statement of Sh. Vinny Varkey, Manager of the Shipping Agent M/s Interocean Shipping (India) Private limited, Jamnagar was recorded on 12.12.2007 wherein, he inter-alia,  explained the procedures related to filing of IGM and EGM of the vessels coming under their agency at Sikka port; that they undertook supply of ship spares (under TP), Provisions, Deck Stores on request of Master /Owner of the  vessel and for which the S/Bs were used to be filed by the Ship Chandellers to whom they were entrusting the said work; that after the vessel sailed from the port they were mentioning such ship store supplies in the concerned EGM and also attaching the duplicate S/B therein; that wherever Ship Stores were routed through them, they received the S/Bs and which were then always enclosed in the EGM and such ship store supplies were always mentioned in the EGM by them; that wherever they were got the S/Bs for supply of bonded bunker from suppliers they were enclosing the same in the relevant EGM and also mentioning the same therein; that however wherever they were not getting any S/Bs they were not mentioning any bunker supplies in the EGM; that the provisions regarding entry of supply of bonded bunker in the EGM was statutorily required to be mentioned in the EGM and the relevant S/Bs must be enclosed in the EGM; that without enclosing the S/B and without mentioning the supply of any bonded bunker, EGM was not complete; that wherever they have not been given any S/Bs they did not  incorporate any such entry in the EGM; that it was their duty to confirm whether any bonded bunker was supplied to a particular vessel handled by them before filing EGM, and because no S/B given to them they presumed that no bunker supply has taken place and therefore they did not mention the same in EGM. 

9.2.
A statement of Sh. C.R.Nair, Branch Manager, of the Shipping Agent,  M/s Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., Sikka was recorded on 01.08.2008 wherein besides other thing, he inter-alia, stated that as the Shipping Agent they looked after the works related to the Customs Clearances for the vessels arriving at the Sikka Ports and also for their departure there from; that accordingly starting from the boarding of arriving vessels by Customs, filing of IGM on the basis of the declaration by the Master of the Vessels upto arranging for Customs Clearance for sailing of the vessels from Port and then filing of EGM after the vessel sailed from the port were all looked after by them for the vessels coming under their agency; that the IGM and EGM filed by them gave  the correct picture of the cargo, ship stores and bunker in the vessel at the time of arrival and at the time of departure respectively at the port; that they generally did not involve themselves in any kind of ship stores supplies however sometimes on direction of the Ship Owners they were  arranging  for the Customs Clearances for supply of the Ship’s Spares coming under the Transshipment Permit; that in such cases they used to file the necessary request applications with the concerned Customs authorities for placing the same on board under the Customs supervision; that whenever any ship stores like Ship Spares/Deck Stores/Bunker were supplied to the vessels coming under their agency their NOC was statutorily required to be obtained from them and then the duplicate copy of the S/B filed in this respect, duly endorsed by the Master of the vessel and the Customs Officers, were handed to them and then they used to make entry with regard to such supplies in the EGM of the vessel; that they were placing the duplicate S/B so received from the suppliers in the EGM; that it was obligatory on the part of the bunker suppliers to take NOC from the concerned Shipping Agent before affecting the supply to any vessel; that in the EGM filed by them for vessels coming under agency of M/s Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., at Sikka, no entry in regard to the receipt of bunker or any ship stores had been mentioned for which he stated that wherever no entry regarding receipt of bunker was mentioned in the EGM, it simply meant that no bunker was supplied to the vessel during material time; that in the EGM the declaration regarding Bunker used to be given as per the details provided by the Master of the Vessel; that a number of vessels had arrived under agency of M/s Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., at the ports of Sikka and Vadinar and had been supplied with the Bunker like HSD and FO by the companies like M/s Link Enterprises, M/s Adani Enterprises Limited, M/s World Link TC Bond Store, M/s BGH Exim Ltd., IOCL etc. He was therefore asked whether he meant to say that he had never issued any NOC to these suppliers companies and they never intimated them for the intended supplies to the vessels under their agency upon which he replied that before January, 2008 they had never supplied with any intimation or any S/Bs regarding supplies made to vessels under their agency by the above named suppliers companies or by any of their representatives and therefore they did not issue any NOC for the supplies of Bunker, if any, made to the vessels under their  agency at Sikka Port; that lately since January, 2008 they were being  handed over the duplicate of the S/Bs by the representative of the Bunker Suppliers which they practiced to enclose in the EGM of the respective vessel. He was further shown the list of the vessels arrived at Sikka Port under their agency after which he was asked to provide details of receipt of bunker by the same to which he requested for some time to provide the required details which was subsequently provided by him vide their statement dated 01.10.2008; that they had not issued any NOC in respect of any of the vessels, the list of which was shown to him, except for one or two supplies made by the barge of Jaisu Shipping where they had been informed by the barge Owner regarding supply of bunker. 
9.3.
A statement of Sh. Prakash Lad, Director of the Shipping Agent, M/s Atlantic Shipping Private Limited was recorded on 01.10.2008, wherein, he was shown statement containing details of the Vessels arrived under agency of M/s Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., at Sikka port as submitted by them under their letter dated 07.08.2008 and after perusing the same he signed the same in token of the truthfulness/correctness of the same. He was further asked about the S/Bs, wherever in the said statement vessels were shown to have received the bunker upon which he stated that in respect of all the vessels mentioned in said statement, they were not given any prior intimation/S/B by the bunker suppliers and neither any NOC was obtained from them for the bunker supplies, if any, and hence they cannot to provide the details of the bunker supplies or S/Bs with regard to the vessels which were shown in the statement; that they were not aware of any bunker supplied to their vessels coming under their agency at Sikka up to October, 2007, as till that time they had never been informed by the Bunker Suppliers about any such Ship Store Supplies and therefore at the time of filing of EGM they had not mentioned any Bunker Supplies in the EGMs; that the receipt of bunker reflected by them in the said statement was based on the figures of bunkers in balance at the time of departure, provided by the Master/ Chief Engineer of the vessel; that they had, however, no evidence to prove the supply of bunker to the vessel, and it was purely on the basis of difference in figures of bunker on arrival and departure provided by the Master/Chief Engineer of the vessel; that to the best of his knowledge they complied with the provisions of the Regulation 3 (1) of the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations, 1976, in respect of the vessels as shown in the statements provided by them on 07.08.2008, as they were not confirming any bunker supply to the captioned vessels; that as clarified earlier, they were not aware of any bunker supplies to the vessels coming under their agency and because of this fact only they never mentioned the same in the EGM filed by them. 
9.4.
A statement of Sh. R. Jayraj, Manager of Shipping Agent M/s GAC Shipping (India) Pvt. Ltd., Jamnagar was recorded on 08.09.2008 wherein besides other thing, he interalia, explained the procedures regarding filing of IGM and EGM for the vessels coming at Sikka Port under their agency and also stated that they were not mentioning all kind of ship stores supplies in the EGM as statutorily required under the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations,1976; that they mentioned only those supplies in the EGM which were effected by them only; that as regarding supplies made by other Licensed Vendors including supply of bonded bunker to the vessels under their agency they did not mention such supplies in the EGM of the vessel; that they were actually not informed by the Ship Store Suppliers and neither were they handed over the duplicate S/B for Ship Store Supplies if any, made to their vessels and in such cases they did not mention such ship store supplies. He provided a list of the 11 vessels arrived under agency of M/s GAC Shipping (India) Pvt. Ltd., at Sikka with details like date of arrival/ departure, status of vessels under coastal or foreign run, date of conversion /reversion, bunker status etc., and further deposed that except in case of MT Enrico Levoli at Sr. No. 2 and MT Genmar Princess at Sr. No. 8, they had neither been informed by the bunker suppliers nor had they issued any NOC for any bunker supply to their vessel; that except the said two vessels he was not aware whether any other vessels had been supplied with any bunker or not; that the NOC so issued in respect of the two said vessels was not available with him. He further deposed that they had never issued any NOC for any bunker supplies of M/s Adani Enterprises Limited or M/s Adani Export Limited to their vessels; that they also never placed any order for supply of bunker to their vessels as mentioned in the list submitted by him; that as they were never informed by the bunker suppliers about any intended supplies to their vessels except the said two vessels, and only through the DRI they came to know about the bunker supplies to their vessels and also concerned Customs Office also never informed them about any such supplies and therefore they failed to mention the bunker supplies in the concerned EGMs; that the EGM reflects all ship store supplies made to the vessel during its stay at any port and without which no supply to the vessel is considered confirmed; that the duplicate S/B related to ship store supplies must be enclosed in the EGM; 
10.
A further statement of Sh. Dushyant Patel, Partner of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Gandhidham was recorded on 19.04.2008 wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that M/s World Link TC Bond Store had arranged supplies of Bonded Bunker to the vessels through other Bunker Suppliers viz. M/s BGH Exim Ltd., M/s Adani Enterprises Ltd. & M/s Link Enterprises wherein S/Bs were filed in the name of the three suppliers respectively but the whole supply was looked after by them; that they received payment from the Vessel Owner in foreign exchange but they made payment to the suppliers in INR for each such supply; that they received foreign exchange remittances from the overseas against above transactions in the HDFC and Corporation Bank Accounts of M/s World Link TC Bond Store and M/s Gujarat Mariners respectively. He was shown and asked about the two S/Bs Nos. 138/19.04.2007 (filed by M/s World Link TC Bond Store) & 137/19.04.2007 (filed by M/s BGH Exim Ltd.) for supplies of 167.760 MT of FO and 20 MT of HSD to MT Hartati at Sikka anchorage which were not matching with the details of supplies shown to same vessel as per the ORB of the supplying barge Hope Island and after perusing the ORB he admitted that per the Oil Record Book of Hope Island 210 MT of FO and 50 MT of DO were shown supplied to MT Hartati on 22.04.2007; that he was unable to explain how the said entries were there in the ORB maintained under the MARPOL Regulations. He was further shown the S/B No. 755/ 17.07.2006 vide which 144.87 MT of FO was shown as supplied to MT Jo Rogn on 20.07.2006 at Sikka anchorage, about which he stated that supply was made through barge Hope Island but mistakenly name of barge was nowhere mentioned in the said S/B. He was then shown xerox copy of the duplicate S/B No. 755/17.07.2006, contained in File No. 1, resumed from his office and wherein at the reverse of said S/B, no signature of any Customs Officer was there in the column “Let Export” and also shown the original copy of the same duplicate Shipping Bill No. 755/17.07.2006, and wherein signature of Superintendent of Customs House, Kandla was found to have been made in column “Let Export”. He was then also shown the Xerox of the Duplicate of same Shipping Bill No. 755/17.07.2006, contained at page 17 of EGM of vessel and which was  signed by the Chief Engineer of vessel but without any endorsements of Customs Officer of Sikka to he agreed to the anamolies but was unable to explain. Further, he was shown a S/B No. 701/20.06.2007 vide which 67.270 MT of HSD was shown as supplied to Tug Valentine-1 at Sikka anchorage on 22.06.2007 for which he stated that they supplied 67.270 MT of HSD to Valentine-1 through Tanker Trucks (TTs) upto Sikka Jetty and then from Sikka Jetty to anchorage, and the same was supplied through Zee-II of M/s Zee Shipping Services; that the name of Barge Zee-II was again not mentioned anywhere in the said S/B which was a mistake on part of the Customs, Sikka. Thereafter he was shown the Port Clearance of Tug Valentine-I as per which PC handed to Master on 20.06.2007 and the Tug shown sailed at 0745 Hrs. on 22.06.2007, and then how supply of bunker could have been made on 22.06.2007 to the said Tug to which he stated that he could say that supply was made on 22.06.2007. Further he stated that order was placed to them by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar and they received payment from M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar. He was also shown the xerox copies of two S/Bs Nos. 515/29.05.2007 and 679/15.06.2007 vide which 29.350 MTs and 19.47 MTs of HSD was shown as supplied to Tug “Ju 251” at Sikka anchorage on 04.06.2007 and 17.06.2007, respectively. After perusing these, he stated that they had supplied 29.350 MT and 19.47 MT of HSD under the two above said S/Bs through Tanker Trucks upto Sikka Jetty and from Sikka Jetty the Bunker was supplied to “Tug Ju-251” through Barge Zee-II, in both the cases; that they  received the order for bunker supply from M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar in this matter; that it was a lapse that name of Barge Zee-II was not mentioned in both the S/Bs; that the Superintendent of Customs, Sikka used to order the examination of bunker intended to be supplied to vessels at anchorage by making endorsements on the concerning S/Bs for bunker supply, then only the Inspector examined the bunker arrived through barge or TTs and used to allow the supply to vessels under his supervision; that in the cases of the supplies made under above explained S/Bs, he was unaware why such endorsements and Examination Orders were not given on the S/B  and it might be replied by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, who had looked after the supplies & Customs formalities at Jamnagar and Sikka ports; that it was a lapse that the names of barges were not mentioned in the Examination Orders of Customs and the same were not mentioned in the “Pre-carriage” Column of the concerning S/Bs and also no endorsements of the Superintendent of Customs were found on the S/Bs related to bunker supplies to vessels at Sikka Port, which was in total contradiction to his statement dated 04.12.2007 and the same could be replied by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar.
11.
A further statement of Sh. Dushyant R. Patel was recorded on 10.09.2008 wherein, on being asked about the original copies of Original and duplicate S/Bs relating to supplies of Bunker by M/s World Link TC Bond Store, he stated inter-alia, that for all of their bunker supplies to vessels at Sikka or at other ports, they were sending the Original copy of duplicate S/B to their local agent M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar for further submission to Customs; that for such practice they did not have any written reference, however, M/s Zee Shipping Services could answer for the unavailable originals of duplicate S/Bs. He was shown S/B No. F-3289/28.03.2007, under which 140.480 MT of FO was shown as supplied to MT Iran Fazel at Sikka Port, and was asked to explain as to how and when the supply was made under the said S/B and was further asked to explain whether any NOC was obtained from the concerned shipping agent or otherwise, further, he was shown the EGM No. F-05/03.04.2007, of vessel MT Iran Fazel, as per which no bunker appeared to be supplied to the said vessel, therefore he was asked to explain under what circumstances he could claim to have made supply of bunker to MT Iran Fazel, to which he stated that the said supply was made through barge Hope Island on 29.03.2007, however, he admitted that name of barge was nowhere reflected in the S/B; that as regard to the NOC (whether obtained from shipping agent or not) the same could be replied by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar only, who had arranged it; that after perusing the EGM he admitted that no supply of bunker was mentioned therein; that on perusal of S/B and EGM of the vessel he admitted that supply was not confirmed. Further, he shown Xerox copy of the S/B No. F-917/28.07.2006 vide which 800 MT of FO was shown supplied to MT Yan Shui Hu at Sikka Port on 06.08.2006 and was asked to explain how the subject supply was made to the vessel without “Let Export” permission of Superintendent of Customs at Sikka, he was also asked to clarify whether he could effect supply of bonded bunker to any foreign going vessel without “Let Export” order under the “S/B for Export of Duty Free Goods Ex-bond”, to which after perusing the S/Bs he admitted the lapse and that there was no “Let Export” permission in the S/B and also clarified that without “Let Export” no supply of bonded bunker could be made, however, it was done in the instant case; that it was because the Customs Officers posted there, refused to sign for “Let Export”. Sh. Patel was then asked whether he had any proof to substantiate this allegation to he replied in the negative. Further, he was shown the signature of the Chief Engineer of vessel MT Yan Shui Hu made on original S/B No.917/28.07.2006 and on the Crew Effect Declaration enclosed in the EGM No. 371/28.09.2006 and after perusing the same he admitted that signature of Chief Engineer at reverse of S/B No. F-917/28.07.2006 was different from those made in the Crew Effect Declaration; he was further shown the S/B no. F-547/01.06.2007, vide which 49.390 MT of HSD was shown as supplied to Tug Jabbar at Sikka Port, however, the subject supply was not confirmed as per the EGM No. F-183/11.06.2007 of the said Tug, on being enquired he stated that the supply was arranged and made through M/s Zee Shipping Services and hence he was not aware as to how the subject supply was made; that as per the EGM the supply was not confirmed however the S/B was endorsed by Master and Inspector of Customs; Sh. Patel was further shown the S/B No. F-703/20.06.2007 vide which the supply of 36.99 MT of HSD was shown supplied to Tug Neptune Star at Sikka, however, as per the EGM No. F-228/26.06.2007, supply of bunker to the said Tug was not confirmed, he admitted that supply was not confirmed and stated that for the supply he dispatched the HSD, through Tanker Trucks, upto Sikka and handed over the bunker to M/s Zee Shipping Services, who then effected supply from Sikka and therefore they could reply as to how the supply was made to Tug Neptune Star. Sh. Dushyant Patel was further shown the S/B No. F-702/20.06.2007 vide which supply of 66.820 MT of HSD was shown as supplied to Tug Lady Hammond at Sikka and was asked to explain how the subject supply was made to the vessel to which he replied that in that case, bunker was first dispatched from Kanlda Port to Sikka in TTs where it was handed over to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar; that hence the method of supply was known to M/s Zee Shipping Services. He was shown the S/B No. F-1615/07.10.2006 vide which supply of 49.30 MT of HSD and 144.65 MT of FO were shown as supplied to vessel MT Dong Shun Ocean and was asked to explain as how subject supply was effected, to which he replied that subject supply was made to vessel at anchorage of Sikka Port on 09.10.2006 through their barge Hope Island. On being asked about the payment received by M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., for transportation of bunker through Hope Island & Hope Island-II, he stated that in case of bunker received on Ex MI basis from M/s Adani Enterprises Ltd., M/s BGH Exim Ltd., M/s Link Enterprises for supply to the vessels through above two barges payments were received separately by M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., from the bunker traders viz. M/s Gujarat Mariner; that in case of bunker supply made directly by the various suppliers as named above through the said two barges of M/s Blue Ocean sea Transport Ltd., payments were made to the barge owner company directly by the suppliers. 

Sh. Dushyant Patel was further asked whether had he obtained any NOC from the concerned Shipping Agency of the recipient vessels or intimated them prior to making supply of bunker at the Ports of Sikka, Bedi, Vadinar, Pipavav etc., upon which he stated that although he was aware that taking NOC from the Shipping Agent was required before effecting supply of bunker to any vessel, however he had not taken any such NOC directly from the shipping agent; that as M/s Zee Shipping Services looked after all of their supply at Jamnagar and Sikka, they might be able to reply in this respect; 
12.
Statements of the Customs Officers who had endorsed the S/Bs of M/s BGH showing supervision of supply at Sikka and Vadinar Ports were also recorded and the same are being presented hereunder:-

12.1
Statement of Sh. Charles Mathew, Inspector of Customs, Customs House, Sikka,  was recorded on 01.12.2008, wherein besides other thing he inter-alia stated that  he was posted at Customs House, Sikka as Inspector of Customs, since 2005 to June-2007 and during the period, he attended the work relating to assessment of B/E, S/B, Boarding formalities for the incoming vessels at Sikka; that they were also checking the IGM, EGM putting up to them for import and export entries therein; that they were however not entering the ship store supplies in the EGM of the vessels (which is contrary to the fact as a number of EGM shows entries of the Ship Store Supplies including bunker supplies); that on receipt of intimation regarding supply of bunker from the Bunker Suppliers or through their agent he was causing entry of the concerned S/B in the official Register meant for same and then on arrival of the bunker at the anchorage through the Bunker Barge, he was attending to the work of supervision of bunker supplies to the vessels; that the examination of the Bunker was done at the Kandla and Mundra Port wherever the same was loaded into the barge; that in case of  bonded bunkers arrived in tanker trucks, the bunkers were transferred in barge at Sikka jetty and then supplied to vessels at anchorage; that in case of bunker supplies through Hope Island and Hope Island-II, M/s Zee Shipping Services used to intimate the Customs and in case of the Bunker Barge Kamal-XXI, the owner’s company M/s Jaisu Shipping used to send their authorized person for submitting the application for bunker supply; that he always checked the S/B and supervised supplies in terms of the details mentioned in the concerned S/Bs; that he attended some of the supplies however in some cases of supplies he deputed the Group D Staff to ensure the supply, as he had been engaged in some other office work. He was shown the S/B No. F-2140/30.11.2006 vide which 646.760 MTs of FO was shown as supplied to vessel MT Ocean Grace at Sikka, but the said S/B was without any “Let Export” permission of the concerned Superintendent of Customs and on being asked how he allowed bunker supply without “Let Export” permitted thereon he replied that though “Let Export” permission was required for allowing supply, and the same was, as per practice, to be obtained from the Customs Office where S/B was filed but in the said case the same left to be done. He was then shown the xerox of the duplicate copy of S/B No. F-219/27.04.2007 showing supply of 29.360 MTs of HSD to Mt Jag Pratap at Sikka and after perusing the same he agreed to the fact that nowhere in the said S/B name of Barge reflected; that under the said S/B, the bunker first came to Sikka through TTs and then how it was supplied to vessel at Sikka anchorage and through which Barge, was not known to him and neither shown in the S/B. Sh. Mathew was further shown the Xerox of the duplicate copy of S/B No. F-755 for supply of 144.870 MTs of FO to MT Jo Rogn at Sikka on 20.07.2006 on account of M/s World Link TC Bond Store and after perusing the same he stated that the subject supply might not have been supervised by him physically and therefore he could not say through which Barge  supply took place; that as regarding absence of “Let Export” permission thereon the same could be replied by the concerned Superintendent of Customs; that though due to overwork in the office he could not physically supervise supply of bunker in all cases,  however, he deputed Group D Staff for the same and as regarding allowing supplies even without permission of “Let Export” on the concerned S/Bs, the same would be answerable to the Superintendent of Customs; that entries regarding supply of Bonded Bunker to the vessels were statutorily required to have been made in the EGM of recipient vessels but the same were missing in many cases, however, in some cases entries were made regarding Ship Store supplies or Bunker supplies. 

12.2.
A statement of Sh. Parag Uchat, posted as Inspector of Customs at Customs House, Sikka was recorded on 12.12.2008 and wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that from 2005 till June- 2007 he was posted at Sikka Customs House, and during the period he attended the work relating to assessment of B/E, S/B, Boarding formalities for the incoming vessels at Sikka; that they were also checking the IGM/ EGM, putted up to them for import and export entries therein; that they were entering the ship store supplies in the EGM of the vessels; that on receipt of intimation regarding supply of bunker from the Bunker Suppliers or through their agent he was causing entry of the concerned S/B in the Shipping Bill Register of the office and then on arrival of the bunker at the anchorage through the Bunker Barge, he was attending the work of supervision of bunker supplies to the vessels; that the examination of the Bunker was done at the Kandla and Mundra Port wherever the same was loaded into the barge; that in case of bonded bunkers arrived in tanker trucks, the bunkers were transferred in barge at Sikka jetty and then supplied to vessels at anchorage; that he was checking the S/Bs and had supervised supplies in terms of the details mentioned in the relevant S/Bs, however, sometime in case of his engagement in some other works, he had not physically supervised the supplies, but from the office he used to Customs Sepoys to see the supply of bunker to vessels at Sikka anchorage. He was shown and asked about the S/B No. F-511/22.12.2006 under which 547.01 MTs of Fuel Oil was shown to have been supplied to vessel MT Arius at Sikka on account of M/s Adani Exports Ltd., and after perusing the same he stated that the barge which was utilized in the supply under the said S/b was not known to him as nowhere in the said S/B, the name of barge was written / mentioned; that though it was his duty to ensure that name of barge be mentioned in the S/B, however, the same left to be done due to oversight; that as regarding physically supervising such supplies of bunker being made to vessels would take around 10-12 hours and due to heavy work at the Customs House, Sikka he used to send Group D Staff for ensuring the supply; that they did not maintain any specific Group D Staff Register for such deployment; that the Group D staff was not authorized to conduct such supervision, officially, however, due to over burden, he was sometimes compelled to do so though he did not have any evidence to show that the Group D staff so deployed really supervised such supplies or otherwise; that he generally asked the concerned Shipping Agent for the same; that he conceded that it was essential also in terms of Export Manifest (Vessel) Regulations, 1976. He was also shown the EGM No. F-429/24.01.2006 of vessel Jag Pranam wherein as per the EGM Performa, supplies of ship stores including the bunker supplies were mentioned and he had endorsed the same, the entries of bunker supplies of 300 MTs of FO and 70 MTs of HSD as shown to have been made under the S/B Nos. F-3065/12.01.2006 and F-3066/12.01.2006 were properly shown in the EGM along with the other supplies, the S/Bs were properly showing which barges were utilized for bunker supplies, the said S/Bs and the EGM were showing that he was fully aware about the provisions of such Bunker Supplies to the foreign going vessels. He was then asked as to why he failed to comply the provisions in other cases of bunker supplies as explained above to which he agreed to the facts, however, he clarified that the EGM was prepared by the Shipping Agent and procedure remained to be maintained due to oversight; that he could not allow any supply of bonded bunker to any vessel, if permission for Let Export was not granted in the concerned S/B;

12.3.
A statement of Sh. Hetalkumar H. Raveshia,  Inspector of Customs at Customs House, Sikka was recorded on 18.12.2008 wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that from June-2006 till June- 2008 he was posted at Customs House, Sikka and during which he attended the work relating to Assessment of B/E, S/B, Boarding of the incoming vessels and also day to day office correspondences and supervision of ship store supplied to the vessels at Sikka etc.; that he was also checking the IGM/EGM which were put up to him for import / export entries therein; that he was entering the ship store supplies in the EGM of the vessels; that as regards the bunker supply to the vessels at Sikka he used to follow the same method as done by his other contemporary colleagues; that he was checking the S/Bs, and was supervising supplies in terms of the details mentioned in the relevant S/Bs; that however sometimes due to engagement in some other works, he did not physically supervised the supplies and had sent the Sepoy to look after the same and during the completion of discharging he was making visit to the recipient vessel at Sikka anchorage for endorsing the S/B; that he was though not authorized to depute any Sepoy for supervision of bunker supply, however he was endorsing name of Sepoy on the permission letter of the agent; that however he had no evidence to show the same. He was shown the S/B No. F-2314/19.12.2006 (endorsed by him) vide which 424.410 MTs of FO was shown as supplied to MT Marilee on account of M/s World Link TC Bond Store at Sikka, when asked to explain how the supply was effected in that case, he stated that under the said S/B, 424.410 MTs of FO was supplied to MT Marilee at Sikka anchorage on 20.12.2006 through barge Hope Island; that he also admitted in respect of the said S/B that supply was shown to have been made without any “Let Export” permission and also EGM of the recipient vessel did not confirm any such bunker supply. He was further shown the xerox copies of the triplicate copy of the S/Bs Nos. F-679/15.06.2007 and F-515/29.05.2007 (both endorsed by him) under which 20 MTs and 30 MTs of HSD was shown as supplied to Tug JU 251 at Sikka on 17.06.2007 and 04.06.2007 on account of M/s World link TC Bond Store, when asked to explain how the supplies were effected in those cases to which he stated that only after perusing the duplicate of those S/B he could explain whether  supplies were made or otherwise to Tug JU 251 at Sikka; that on perusing the EGM No. F-178/11.06.2007 of vessel MT Ju- 251 he confirmed that the said Tug JU 251 sailed from Sikka on 05.06.2007 and the said EGM did not confirm any such bunker supplies as shown in the S/Bs Nos. F-679/15.06.2007 and F-515/29.05.2007; that on seeing the S/B No. F-2917/19.02.2007 under which 418.910 MTs of Fuel Oil was shown as supplied to MT Baltic Soul at Sikka on 21.02.2007, when asked to explain how the supply was effected without observing the statutory permission of “Let Export” in the concerned S/B to which he stated that though the said S/Bs were without any permission for the “Let Export”, however he could not held up the supply for the said lapse; that after perusing the EGM of the recipient vessel he agreed to the fact that the same did not confirm any bunker supply; 
13.
Sh. Amit Dingwani an Executive Officer in the office of barge operator company M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd (BOSTL for short), (owner’s company of barges Hope Island and Hope Island-II) was found to have written the remark of the Chief Engineer of the recipient vessels at the reverse of the S/B and hence his statement was also recorded on 16.02.2009 to ascertain the fact as to why he wrote endorsement of the CE on the S/B and under what circumstances the same was done. In his statement he voluntarily inter-alia stated that he was in the company since 2003 and was looking after work related to operation, registration, survey work etc., for the Tugs and the barges owned and run by the company. On being asked as to how was he involved in the supply of bunker, he stated that on getting requisition for bunker barges from the bunker suppliers, he would arrange the barge for loading of bunker at the load port i.e. Kandla and Mundra and then from loading into barges up to supply to the vessels he looked after the operation related work. He was shown one S/B No. F-1615/07.10.2006 showing supply of HSD and FO to vessel MT Donh Shun Ocean at Sikka port on account of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, at the reverse of which “Ch. Engineer Remark” was made regarding supply of bunker through Hope Island, when asked whether the said remark was handwritten by him to which, after perusing the said S/B, he confirmed that the same was written by him on instruction of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar; that he received the said S/B from Sh. Amit Sinha of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Gandhidham; that he had also made remark “Ch. Engineer Remark” at reverse of S/B No. F-385/31.10.2006, 369/26.10.2006 and admitted that he was though not present at the place of discharge even after that he wrote the said remark on being asked by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar. He, thereafter, was shown a number of S/B where at reverse of each the same remark of “Chief Engineers” was found as written by him and after perusing the same he confirmed to have written those remarks without overseeing the physical supplies of bunker to the vessels, as a matter of routine practice on being asked by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar; that at the anchorage of Ports of Sikka, Vadinar and Bedi  no Customs Officers were coming to supervise the supplies of bunker to vessels and only one or two days after supply of bunker to vessels S/Bs were being put up to them and they were signing the same. 
14.
A further statement of Sh. Dushyant R. Patel, Partner of M/s World Link TC Bond Store was recorded on 01.04.2009 wherein he voluntarily inter-alia, on being asked about supplies of 20 MTs and 54.560 MTs of HSD to MV Tayson 4 and MV Cher at Bedi ports under S/Bs Nos. F-1680/13.10.2006 & F-2672/23.01.2007, stated that the bunker was first dispatched from Kandla by them up to Bedi through Tanker Trucks and thereafter final supplies to vessels were arranged by Sh. Rakesh Barai of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, and therefore they were not aware as to which barge was utilized for the said supplies; that Sh. Rakesh Barai would be able to explain in this regard; that on perusing the S/B No. F-08/19.04.2007 vide which supply of 370 MTs of Fuel Oil was shown as supplied to MT Ocean Stellar at Sikka, through Hope Island-II as per the S/B, however, as per the ORB of Hope Island-II, no such supply was shown to have been made through the said barge and instead in the ORB of Hope Island, supply of 200 MTs of Fuel Oil was shown to have been made to MT Ocean Stellar on 25.04.2007 (the said supply was not possible looking to the fact that on 25.04.2007, Hope Island was shown to have loaded the bunker at Kandla for MT CV Raman at Vadinar and after discharging into MT CV Raman at Vadinar on 25.04.2007, it came back to Kandla for loading 200 MTs of FO and after loading it came to Sikka and discharged on the same day i.e. on 25.04.2007 in MT Ocean Stellar), these supplies could not be possible by Hope Island to be made on the same day i.e. on 25.04.2007, he agreed to the fact that supply to MT Ocean Stellar on 25.04.2007 was not possible and further deposed that supply was not made on 25.04.2007 and it was instead made on 20.04.2007; that as per S/B No. F-08/19.04.2007, the bunker was shown dispatched from Mundra Port, however, as per the ORB, loading of bunker viz. 200 MT FO was shown from Kandla on 25.04.2007; that the said entry appeared to have been wrongly made in the ORB; (this shows ORB of barge Hope Island-II used to be  manipulated to regularize supplies which were not made); that on perusing the S/B No. F-296/22.09.2006, vide which 150 MTs of Fuel Oil was shown as supplied to MT Iran Fazel at Sikka on 26.09.2006, through Hope Island-II, and the Log Book of Hope Island-II, he admitted that no such entry or supply was shown in the Log Book of the said barge; that after seeing the S/B No. F-2314/19.12.2006 showing supply of 450 MTs of FO to MT Marilee at Sikka, (the S/B was without “Let Export” permission) he agreed that he could not supply bonded bunker to any foreign going vessel without obtaining the “Let Export” permission in the relevant S/B from the concerned Superintendent of Customs and that any supply of bunker without Let Export permission was contrary to the Customs Law and therefore illegal. 
15.
Further statement of Sh. Dushyant Patel was recorded on 15.04.2011 wherein besides other thing he voluntarily, inter-alia stated that all the Bunker shown as supplied by M/s World Link TC Bond Store, to the foreign going vessels were all imported and not procured from indigenous sources and also in all such bunker fuel imported and cleared against Warehousing Bs/E, for which they had filed undertaking under Section 59 of the CA, 1962, for each import; that they had not been given any Warehousing License under Section 58 of the CA, 1962, however, at the time of import their cargo accompanied with import cargo of parties like M/s BGH Exim Ltd., got warehoused on the strength of Warehousing License issued to M/s BGH Exim Ltd., and they were filing only the Warehousing Bonds for each consignments under Section 59 of the CA, 1962; on persuing the S/B Nos. F-701/20.06.2007, filed by M/s World Link TC Bond Store, to the vessels namely Valentine-1, he stated that the said supply of bunker was made by them through M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar; that they had dispatched the bunker covered under the said S/B in Tanker Trucks from Kandla after ex-bond of the same to Sikka Port and where they handed over the bunker to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, at Sikka Port for further supply to the vessel; that thereafter, the arrangement of supply from Sikka to Tug Valentine-1 was known to M/s Zee Shipping Services only. He was shown and asked as to why the HSD covered under S/B No. F-701/20.06.2007 was handed over to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, at Sikka Port, when the same was filed in name of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Gandhidham and it was their duty to arrange the supply in terms of the subject S/B, to which he stated that the subject handing over of bunker viz. 67.270 MTs of HSD to M/s Zee Shipping Services, was on account of their sale to them (M/s Zee Shipping); that as M/s Zee Shipping, Jamnagar has got the order for supply of bunker to Valentine-1 and therefore they purchased bunker from M/s World Link TC Bond Store, which was handed over to them under S/B No. F-701/20.06.2007; that he agreed that the bunker handed over to M/s Zee Shipping Services was meant for supply to Tug Valentine-1 while, it was their duty to ensure supply to vessel in terms of S/B; that they believed that the supply was made to Tug Valentine-1, as vessel foreign run, as later they got the S/B duly endorsed by the Master of the Tug and the Customs Officer. He was further shown the EGM of Tug Valentine-1 as per which no receipt/supply of bunker shown by/to Tug Valentine-1 during the material time, though all ship store supplies were made to Tug Valentinwe-1 were mentioned in the EGM, but no bunker was shown as supplied to the said vessel to which after perusing the said EGM he agreed to the fact that no bunker supply was shown therein was made to the said vessel. He was again shown the EGM Nos. F-183/11.06.2007 of Tug Jabbar and EGM No. F-228/22.06.2007 of Tug Neptune Star who had shown the receipt of bonded HSD as bunker under S/Bs Nos. F-547/01.06.2007 and F-703/20.06.2007, but it did not confirm any such receipt of bonded bunker by the Tugs, whereas receipt of other ship stores was confirmed therein, he agreed that supplies of bonded bunkers as per above said S/Bs Nos. F-547/01.06.2007 and F-703/20.06.2007 were not confirmed; that the supplies to vessels could be explained and confirmed by M/s Zee Shipping Services, to whom they handed over the bunker at Sikka Port as in case of Valentine-1. On being asked about payments, if any, received from Tug Owner’s company for causing supply of bunker viz. HSD to vessels viz. Tug Valentine-1, Tug Neptune Star, Tug Lady Hammond, Tug Jabbar under S/Bs Nos. F- 701/20.06.2007; F-703/20.06.2007, F-702/20.06.2007 and 547/01.06.2007, to which he stated that for all the above supplies they sold the bunkers to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, and accordingly they received the payment from them only through cheques; that the supply could not be made after vessel sailed from the port as mentioned in the S/B No. F-679/15.06.2007, filed in name of M/s World Link TC Bond Store; vide which 20 MTs of HSD shown as supplied to MT Ju 251 at Sikka Port, whereas, the subject vessel MT Ju 251, had sailed from Sikka on 05.06.2007, in connection to which he was shown the EGM No. F-178/11.06.2007, enclosing therewith the Port clearance showing date of sail as 05.06.2007 (that bunker covered under Shipping Bill No. F-679/15.06.2007 was handed over by them to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar for onward supply to MT Ju-251 and then how the supplies were made to vessels could be explained by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar. He was further asked whether he accept the fact that the bonded bunker viz. HSD, removed under the cover of S/Bs Bill Nos. F- 701/20.06.2007 F-703/20.06.2007, F-702/20.06.2007, 547/01.06.2007, F-515/29.05.2007 and F-679/15.06.2007 were actually sold by them to M/s Zee Shipping Services, to which he agreed that the bunker under the above S/Bs were sold by them to M/s Zee Shipping Services, for which they  had received payment from them through cheques only.

16.
A statement of Sh. Manoj B. Khona, Partner of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar was recorded on 26.05.2011 wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that, they had arranged  the supplies of bunkers under S/B of M/s World Link, at the ports of Bedi, Sikka, Vadinar, Pipavav etc. and for all supplies made by M/s World Link, bunkers used to be always brought/transported to Sikka anchorage in the barges of M/s World Link and their role was to intimate the local Customs authority about the same; that thereafter bunker was shown as supplied to the vessel, and barges were going back directly to Kandla, the original S/Bs in triplicate were sent to M/s Zee Shipping Services,  by the suppliers and they were getting the same endorsed by the Customs authority. In response to the question regarding purchase of bonded bunker from M/s World Link, he stated that wherever M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar had received order for supply of bunker to vessels at Sikka, Bedi, Vadinar & Pipavav Ports, they  made supplies after purchasing bonded bunker from M/s World Link. He was then asked about supply of bonded bunker to vessel MT Yan Shui Hu at Sikka under S/B Bill No. F-917/28.07.2006, and after perusing the said S/B and EGM of the vessel with Crew Effect Declaration, enclosed therein he admitted that  signature of Chief Engineer in S/B was not his own and also endorsement shown made by Chief Engineer was actually handwritten by Sh. Amit Dingwani of barge operator company M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd. (a group company of M/s World Link TC Bond Store); that the supply was shown without “Let Export” permission which was absent in the said S/B No. F-917/28.07.2006; that such supply could not be made without “Let Export” permission as required under Customs Law; that such permission was given by the Superintendent of Customs, at Custom House, Kandla and which appeared not given in the present case, and they also failed to notice the same. Sh. Manoj Khona was further asked as to whether he agreed to the fact of non-supply of bunker in the present case to which he stated that he could not explain how the subject supply took place and therefore he was unable to confirm the subject supply. He was further asked about the S/B No. F-755/12.07.2006, vide which 144.87 MTs of FO was shown as supplied to vessel MT Jo Rogn, at Sikka Port, however, the subject S/B was also without “Let Export” permission. He was also shown a copy of the S/B supplied by Custom House, Sikka, with EGM of MT Jo Rogn bearing No. F-216/26.07.2006, which did not have endorsement of Custom Officers of Sikka, however, signature of Chief Engineer was there in S/B. Then he was also shown another set of S/B bearing same number, which had signature of Custom Officer, as well as date of supply was also inserted deliberately with signature of Chief Engineer, therefore he was asked as to whether he agreed to the fact that the S/B was manipulated to show the supply which actually did not take place. After perusing the documents as above, he agreed that the subject supply was shown without “Let Export” and without supervision of Custom Officer and he further admitted that the S/B appeared to have been inserted with signature and date of supply by some other person and for which he was unable to give any explanation; that from the documents the subject supply appears to be doubtful. He was further shown S/B No. F-2314/ 19.12.2006 under which 424.41 MTs of FO was shown as supplied to MT Marilee at Sikka Port and the corresponding EGM No. F-570/26.12.2006, of the vessel and after perusing the documents he agreed that the supply was shown without “Let Export” permission; that the EGM of the vessel moreover did not show any receipt of bunker by vessel MT Marilee. He further agreed to the fact of non-supply in the subject case. He further admitted that for many supplies of bonded bunker by M/s World Link, S/B were sent by them through barge only up to anchorage of the port and the signature of Chief Engineer or Master of recipient vessel in S/B was obtained there; that after this the same S/B was going back to Kandla and from there it was sent to them viz. M/s Zee Shipping Services, for getting the endorsement thereon by the supervising Custom Officer; that however he admitted their mistake for arranging supply without “Let Export” and “Customs Supervision”. He was further shown copies of the two sets of same S/Bs No. F-3289/28.03.2007, vide which supply of 140.48 MTs of FO was shown as supplied to the vessel MT Iran Fazel. One S/B from File No. 13, recovered from his office under Panchanama dated 24.08.2007, had signature of Custom Officer as well as of the Chief Engineer of recipient vessel, however, another S/B recovered from file of M/s World Link had signature only of the Chief Engineer of vessel. After perusing the documents he agreed to the fact that subject supply was shown without supervision of Customs at Sikka Port. He was also shown the S/B No. F-679/15.06.2007 under which 19.47 MTs of HSD shown supplied to barge Ju-251 on 17.06.2007, however, as per the Port Clearance enclosed in the EGM No. 178/11.06.2007, of said barge Ju-251, the same sailed from Sikka Port on 05.06.2007. After perusing the above said documents he agreed to the fact that subject supply was not made as shown vide Shipping Bill No. F-679/15.06.2007. He was further shown the S/Bs Nos. F-547/01.06.2007, F-701/ 20.06.2007, F-703/20.06.2007 and F-702/20.06.2007, vide which supplies of 49.39 MTs, 67.27 MTs, 36.99 MTs & 66.82 MTs of HSD were shown as supplied to the vessels Tug Jabbar, Tug valentine-1, Tug Neptune Star and Tug Lady Hammond all at Sikka Port, and was asked to explain how the above supplies were made to the vessels. After perusing the documents he stated that HSD covered under the above said S/Bs was purchased by them from M/s World Link and then the same were supplied to the above named Tugs; that for above purchase of HSD from M/s World Link they made payment to them (M/s World Link); that as regarding supplies made to above named Tugs, the bunker came to Sikka from Kandla in Tanker Trucks and then from Sikka Port, Bunker was supplied to vessels through their  bunker Barge Zee-II. He was then shown the details of all the supplies made through barge Zee-II as submitted by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, vide letter dated 22.09.2008 and as per which above supplies were not made through barge Zee-II. After seeing the details, Sh. Manoj Khona agreed to the fact that supplies to above named tugs were not confirmed. 

The Facts and the Statutory Legal Provisions relating to the supply of the Bonded Bunker to the Foreign Going Vessels at various Ports by M/s World Link:- 

17.
The procedure to be followed for duty free import of bunker, its warehousing and subsequent supply on ship store is narrated as under,- 

17.1
For the purpose of causing import and subsequent warehousing of FO & HSD, the importers are filing Warehousing Bond/undertaking in terms of Section 59 of the CA, 1962, subscribing to the declaration that the imported bunker fuel would be exported in the form of supply to the vessels under foreign run. Hence, on execution of the Warehousing Bond by the importers, such FO & HSD are allowed to be warehoused in terms of Section 85 of the CA, 1962, without payment of duty subject to compliance of the undertaking filed by them under Section 59 of the CA, 1962. Because of the reasons “the imported stores may be consumed on board a foreign going vessel or aircraft” under Section 87 of the CA, 1962, the export/supply of the Bonded Bunker (as ship stores) was shown to be made by the importers, on the strength of the S/B meant for “Export of Duty Free Goods Ex-Bond”, under Section 69 of the CA, 1962 applied for ship stores supply to foreign going vessels, in terms of provisions of Section 88 of the CA, 1962. The export/supply of the bonded bunkers to the foreign going vessels is also made by the importers by employing the Tanker Trucks (TTs) as well as the Bunker Barges. On Customs clearance of the S/Bs filed by the importers for supply of Bonded Bunker, the examination of the bunker is carried out and then Let Export permission is granted by the concerned Superintendent of Customs in terms of Section 51 of the CA, 1962, and then loading into the TTs or Bunker Barges is to be made in presence of the Customs (at Kandla Port)  and then supply to intended vessels (name of which reflected in S/B as recipient vessel) at the port of supply is also to be made in presence of the Customs Officer of the local Customs Houses at the Port of Supply in terms of Section 34 of the CA, 1962. The endorsements to the effect of the examination of bunker, “Let Export”, loading of bunker and then supervision of supply to intended vessels are made by the concerned Customs Officers respectively, at the reverse of the S/Bs in the column prescribed for the same. After supply of bunker to the vessel is completed, the Master or the Chief Engineer of the recipient vessel would endorse the S/B at the reverse side to the effect of “shipped in full” in the Column meant for “Content Received on Board “, and the supervising Customs Officer would endorse the S/B at the reverse side in the column “Date of Shipment”. Thereafter once the recipient vessel sailed from the port, the duplicate S/B (in original) showing receipt of bunker is filed/incorporated in the EGM, and such bunker receipt is shown/entered in the prescribed column of EGM in terms of Regulation 3 of the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations,1976. The Original S/B is retained by the Customs House, where the same is filed and the triplicate retained and maintained by the bunker supplier. The above procedures for supply of bonded bunker to any foreign going vessels are legally and statutorily mandatory as provided by the relevant Sections of the Customs Act, 1962.

18.
From the facts and the circumstances of the case, discussed in the foregoing Paras and the statements of various connected persons tendered by them voluntarily under Section 108 of the Customs Act, 1962, it appeared that the importers M/s World link was engaged in export/supply of Bonded Bunkers viz. Furnace Oil (FO) and HSD to the foreign going vessels at various ports around Kandla/Mundra. The bunkers so supplied “Ex-bond” to the vessels by M/s World Link have been imported by them at Kandla Port and were warehoused on filing the B/E for warehousing in terms of Section 85 of the CA, 1962, read with provisions of Para 2.36 of the FTP 2004-09. During investigations, the Bunker Supply documents consisting of the photocopies of the S/Bs, Short Shipment Notices, Sales Contract, Warehousing Bonds/ undertakings etc. were recovered from the office premises of the importers M/s World Link, under Panchanama dated 19.09.2007, as well as submitted by them under statements of Sh. Dushyant Patel, partner, tendered by him voluntarily on 04.12.2007, 19.04.2008, and on 01.04.2009 in respect of some of the bunker supplies shown to have been made by them to the vessels at various ports. Besides this, other documents viz. S/Bs, related to the bunker supplies and the EGM of the recipient vessels were also called for from the Customs Houses at the Ports where the supplies were shown as effected, to the vessels, by M/s World Link. The S/Bs were filed at the Customs House Kandla, the copies of which were provided during investigations. Other related documents like Log Book (LB) and the Oil Record Books (ORB) of the Bunker Barges shown as having used in transportation were also called for from the Barge owners/operators namely M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport and details of all bunker supplies were made through barge Zee-II, were called for from M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar. The documents/ files resumed from the premises of M/s Zee Shipping Services, under Panchanama dated 24.08.2007, were also found to containing some of the bunker supply documents pertaining to M/s World Link as they handled the supplies of M/s World Link at Sikka, Bedi, Vadinar and Pipavav ports, as confirmed by Sh. Dushyant Patel in his voluntary statements. Further, the details regarding schedules and bunker status of the recipient vessels, at the ports were also called for, from the Shipping Agents during their respective statements. The documents so resumed, were later examined and verified to ascertain the supplies whether actually made by M/s World Link or otherwise and upon scrutiny of all such documents, a number of anomalies, deficiencies and irregularities were noticed as mentioned hereunder confirming the fact of non supply as well as of diversion, even in cases where exports/supplies were found illegal, in the guise of the S/Bs meant for supply to foreign going vessels which was later duly corroborated and confirmed in view of the statements recorded of the concerned persons from the importers M/s World Link, their agents at Jamnagar, Master of the Barges, Shipping Agents, and the Customs Officers in their respective statements as also discussed in the foregoing Paras. The anomalies and irregularities found in the documents were as under:-

18.1
The EGMs of the some vessels as claimed by M/s World Link, having receipt of the bunkers, were not evidencing the receipt of any bunker at the port at that material time. In terms of the Regulation 3 of the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations, 1976, every EGM, besides many other things, must also have details of receipt of “Stores” at the Port under endorsements of the master of the vessel, however, in many cases of the bunker supplies, as claimed by M/s World Link, the corresponding EGM of the recipient vessels, obtained from the concerned Customs Houses, did neither substantiate the receipt of any bunker by the vessels nor the relevant EGM contained the duplicate copy of S/B pertaining to the supplies of bonded bunker, which clearly indicate the non-supply of bunker to the vessel during stay at the port / anchorage. The above anomalies occurred despite the fact that the concerned shipping agents were fully aware of the said legal provisions. 

18.2
In many cases of bunker supplies as declared by M/s World Link, the transportations of bunkers from Kandla to the intended recipient vessels could not be established. The names of barges were found nowhere mentioned in the concerned S/B. This was in contrast to many S/Bs of M/s World Link, where mode of transportations were clearly mentioned in the concerned S/Bs in examination report of the Customs Officers with details of TTs and supplying barges duly mentioned in prescribed column. Further, in such cases wherever name of bunker barge were not mentioned in the S/Bs, M/s World Link failed to submit any proof of transportation of the bonded bunker during the investigation, which implied that supply was not effected and the goods were diverted elsewhere, despite the fact that they were fully aware of the legal provisions in this regard. 

18.3
M/s World Link filed S/B meant for “Export of Duty Free Goods Ex-bond” for export/supply of bonded bunker to the vessels, however, they had omitted to take the statutory legal permissions from the concerned Customs authorities in the S/Bs as required, thereby rendering such supplies as illegal, under Customs law. Like in many cases of bunker supplies by M/s World Link, the concerned S/Bs were found without having any “Let Export” permission to be granted therein by the Superintendent of Customs, statutorily required under Section 51 of the CA, 1962, before making supply of the bonded HSD to the vessel. Similarly, many supplies of the bonded bunkers were shown to have been made without supervisions of the concerned Officers of Customs, as apparent from the S/Bs, though it was statutorily required under Section 34 of the CA, 1962. Sh. Dushyant Patel, partner of M/s World Link, under his various voluntary statements admitted the above said lapses and anomalies in their supplies, despite the fact that he had full knowledge of the mandatory legal provisions, indicating his mala-fide intentions. Likewise, the concerned Customs Officers also deposed in their respective voluntary statements as discussed under Para 11 to the Show cause Notice, that they had put their dated signature on the S/Bs without attending to the physical supervision of the bunker supplies. These facts were also admitted by Sh. Manoj Khona, partner of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, under his voluntary statement dated 26.05.2011, according to which the S/Bs were got signed by the Customs Officers, only after the alleged recipient vessels sailed from the Port of supply and supervision of supply of bonded bunker were not attended by the Customs Officers, though their endorsements were obtained at reverse of Shipping Bills. 

18.4
In many cases of bunker supplies by M/s World Link, the duplicate copies of S/Bs (in original) were found missing and only xerox copies (in some cases Xerox of fax of S/B were only obtained) of the same have been provided by the concerned Customs Houses. Besides this, in many cases of bunker supplies, the S/Bs were not provided by the concerned Customs Houses, which otherwise should have been filed/maintained in the EGM of the recipient vessels, evidencing/detailing the bunker supplies made to the vessels during stay at the port/anchorage in terms of provisions of the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations, 1976. The factum was found mentioned in the letters of the concerned Customs Houses. 

18.5
In some cases, supplies of bunkers were shown to the vessels after the same sailed from the port which was apparently clear from the EGM (with enclosed Port Clearance therein) of the said vessel, received during investigations from the concerned Customs Houses e.g. the supply of 19.47 MTs of HSD was shown to Barge Ju-251 at Sikka on 17.06.2007, while as per Port Clearance enclosed in EGM; the said vessel was shown sailed from Sikka on 05.06.2007, itself. Similarly, in case of Tug Neptune Star at Sikka, 36.99 MTs of HSD shown as supplied to the said vessel after the same had sailed from Sikka. Hence in the guise of such supplies (claimed by the importers as made to the vessels without the same being available at the Port), M/s World Link diverted the bonded bunkers elsewhere. This fact was also admitted by Sh. Dushyant Patel, in his statements dated 19.04.2008 and 15.04.2011. The bunkers covered under above said S/Bs were handed over to M/s Zee Shipping Services, through sales, by M/s World Link, as admitted by Sh. Manoj Khona, of M/s Zee Shipping Services, in his voluntary statement dated 26.05.2011. 

18.6
The duty free import of HSD and subsequent warehousing thereof was allowed to M/s World Link by the Customs, Kandla, subject to the condition that the imported bunker would be exported /supplied to the foreign going vessels for which an undertaking was tendered by them under Section 59 of the CA, 1962, at the time of import. In his respective statements, however, Sh. Dushyant Patel of M/s World Link admitted his failure in compliance of the statutory requirement of ensuring physical supply of bonded bunker to vessels in terms of concerned S/Bs. In many cases, whereas, it was found that the S/B was filed in name of M/s World Link, and instead of causing physical supply of bonded bunker to intended vessel in terms of S/B, the bunker covered under S/Bs were sold by them to their agents viz. M/s Zee Shipping Services, on receipt of payment from them as admitted by Sh. Patel in his voluntary statement dated 15.04.2011. Hence, instead of causing/ensuring the physical supply of the bonded bunker to the intended vessel in terms of S/B, sale and subsequent handing over of the same to M/s Zee Shipping Services, amounted to an outright diversion of the bonded bunker by M/s World Link. Therefore, as clear from the above, M/s World Link, found to have committed illegal sales and outright diversion of the bonded bunker to M/s Zee Shipping Services, in guise of Ex-bond supply to vessels. 

18.7
In case of supply of HSD to vessels as bunker, S/Bs were filed in the name of M/s World Link for Ex-bond supply/Export to the vessels under foreign run, which were sold by them to the bunker traders viz. M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar on receipt of payment (in INR) for the same and hence they never cared whether the bonded HSD was actually being supplied to the vessels, it was meant for or otherwise, in total disregard of the legal undertaking given by them while requesting for acceptance of the Warehousing Bond filed by them with Customs at the time of duty free import and warehousing of such HSD as bunker fuel. Hence, the purpose of export failed completely in the subject case as no foreign exchange was received by the exporter in terms of the S/B. Therefore, taking cognizance of the above, such handing over of bonded HSD against payment in Indian rupees amounted to outright sales and was therefore clear cut diversion and illegal sales of the bonded bunker covered under the Shipping Bill for export of duty free goods Ex-bond. Further such sales of HSD by M/s World Link to M/s Zee Shipping Services, was illegal also for the reasons the said product is marketable only by the State Trading Enterprises or any other agencies as permitted in terms of Ministry of Petroleum & Natural Gas’s Resolution No. P-23015/1/2001-MKT dated 08.03.2002. Besides this, HSD is a restricted item under Exim Policy falling under ITC (HS) code 2710.1930 and import of which allowed through IOCL only subject to condition of Para 2.11 and through the canalized agencies only as  empowered in terms of Para 2.28 and 2.36 of the Exim Policy. However, M/s World Link were allowed duty free import and warehousing of HSD, subject to the conditions imposed and undertaking to that effect tendered by them at the time of filing Warehousing Bond under Section 59 of the CA,1962, that the same would be supplied to foreign run vessels as bunker/Ship Stores. Therefore, the said legal undertaking was found violated by M/s World Link while showing supply of bunker to vessels and thereby rendered the import of all such bonded bunker (i.e. HSD) illegal and liable to confiscation in terms of Section 111(o) of the CA, 1962. The fact of sale of bonded bunker by M/s World Link was moreover also admitted by Sh. Dushyant Patel Partner vide his statement dated 15.04.2011;

18.8
To show the supply of bonded bunkers in terms of S/B, M/s World Link found to have manipulated the documents like Oil Record Book (ORB) and Log Books of the Bunker Barges namely Hope Island & Hope Island-II, to illustrate the transportation. In case of supplies shown under S/Bs Nos. F-917/28.07.2006, F-755/12.07.2006, F-2314/19.12.2006 & F-3289/28.03.2007, the Log Book & ORB of bunker barges viz. Hope Island & Hope Island-II were manipulated to show the supplies which were ultimately could not be established. Similarly, M/s World Link was also found to have got the S/B manipulated with entries and got it endorsed wrongly endorsements to regularize the supply which were actually not effected. For S/B No. F-917/28.07.2006 & F-755/12.07.2006, permission of “Let Export” was not given at the time of supply, however, later the same was found unlawfully obtained by M/s World Link. Similarly, the endorsements of Custom Officers, who supervised the “Export” physically, were made as a result of physical supervision of supply but their signatures were obtained by M/s World Link, without any physical supervision of supply, in complete violation of statutory provisio under Section 34 of the CA,1962, in the subject case. The above facts were proved in view of the material evidences available on record. For S/Bs Nos. F-755/12.07.2006, F-917/28.07.2006 & F-3289/28.03.2007, the endorsements were found earlier not made, however, on a later stage, the same were somehow obtained from Customs, though unlawfully. Similarly, in case of S/B No. F-917/28.07.2006, wrong details with respect to dates were found made in endorsements of Officers of Kandla Customs, and in case of S/B No. F-755/12.07.2006, the date of supply was found deliberately inserted by third person with endorsement purportedly of Chief Engineer of the vessel which was actually not made by him. Similarly, in some cases they were found to have forged the signatures of Master / Chief Engineer of recipient vessel on the S/B, to establish the receipt of bunker by vessel as done in case of Yan Shui Hu under S/B No.917/28.07.2006, which was also admitted by Sh. Dushyant Patel in his voluntary statements dated 19.04.2008 and 10.09.2008 and by Sh. Manoj Khona, partner of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar in his voluntary statement dated 26.05.2011. 
19.
Sh. Dushyant Patel, partner of M/s World Link in his voluntary statements dated 19.04.2008, 01.04.2009 & 15.04.2011 admittedly made many anomalies, lapses and irregularities and Sh. Manoj Khona, partner of M/s Zee Shipping Services, claimed to have arranged their supplies at Sikka, Vadinar and Bedi, who also admitted to the fact of non-feasibilities as well as of illegal supplies in some of the cases, under his (Manoj) statement dated 26.05.2011. As detailed in annexure annexed to the Show cause Notice, specifying the above anomalies and irregularities found in the bunker supplies of M/s World Link to vessels and thereby evidencing the non-supply as well as of illegal exports of bunkers are explained S/Bill  /Vessel  wise under Annexure-A to the SCN.

20.
Therefore, in view of the material facts and the circumstances of the case  as enumerated in the foregoing paras it prima facie appears that, the Bunker i.e. Furnace Oil (FO) and High Speed Diesel (HSD) were imported by M/s World Link and allowed to be warehoused without payment of Duty in terms of Section 85 of the Customs Act,1962 and provisions of Para 2.36 of the FTP 2004-09,  subject to the condition that the same would be supplied to the foreign going vessel as ship stores and whereupon subscribing to the declaration to the effect of the above, M/s World Link filed the Warehousing Bond under provisions of Section 59 of the Customs Act,1962. Then Shipping Bills were filed by M/s World Link for export/supply of bonded bunker Ex-bond to the foreign going vessels, however by way of willful suppression and misrepresentation of facts in the bunker supply documents including the Warehousing Bonds and by way of various acts and omission on their parts, M/s World Link showed supplies of bonded bunker to the intended vessel,  which were found not genuine in these  cases (as per Annexure-A to the SCN), but were found diverted elsewhere with the intention to evade Customs Duty.

20.1
In the guise of supplies of bonded bunker to the foreign going vessels under cover of “Shipping Bill for Export of Duty Free Goods Ex-Bond”, M/s World Link failed to cause supply to the intended vessels in terms of Shipping Bill and has diverted the same elsewhere as apparently clear from the evidences discussed Shipping Bill wise in Annexure-A to the SCN. Supply of bonded bunker was statutorily required to have been made to the intended vessel only, in terms  of various provisions of  Customs Act,1962, and to the vessels as per  the concerned Shipping Bill, however from the evidences available on record (in the form of Shipping Bill, EGM, Barge Transportation Documents etc.) and depositions of the concerned Partner Sh. Dushyant Patel, Masters of the supplying Barge, Shipping Agents, Barge Operator, Customs Officers, and agent at Jamnagar viz. M/s Zee Shipping Services it clearly  implied that supplies to the intended vessels were not confirmed in terms of the concerned Shipping Bills and apparently such bonded bunker have been diverted elsewhere. Therefore by diversion of the bonded bunker meant for the foreign going vessels in terms of the concerned Shipping Bill, M/s World Link has violated the provisions of Section 59 of the Customs Act, 1962, under which they undertook to make the supply of imported and warehoused FO and HSD as bunker to the vessels in foreign run. Hence in view of above,  the import of such bunker rendered illegal in terms of Section 111(o) of the Customs Act, 1962 for the reasons, the  legal undertaking given in relation to export/supply  of bunker and condition of exemption stood violated. Therefore all such bonded bunker found to have been actually not supplied, in terms of Shipping Bills filed with Customs and diverted elsewhere appears to be liable for confiscation in terms of Section 111(o) and 113 (k) of the Customs Act, 1962, and the Customs Duty is also liable to be paid thereon under Section 28 (4) read with Section 72(1) of the Customs Act, 1962 for the contraventions of the provisions of the Customs Act, 1962 as above. 

21.
For making export/supply of bonded bunker to the foreign going vessels, M/s World Link filed “Shipping Bills for export of Duty Free Goods Ex-Bond” in terms of Section 69 of the Customs Act, 1962 applicable in terms of Section 88 of the Customs Act, 1962. However M/s World Link was found to have shown export/supplies of bonded bunker to the vessels, without permission for “Let Export” in violation of Section 51 of the Customs Act, 1962. Moreover exports/supplies were shown to vessels without supervisions of the concerned Customs Officers at the port of supply, in violation of the Section 34 of the Customs Act, 1962.  Therefore, all such exports/ clearances are illegal and actually having not been made and therefore in violation of Sub-section 1(c) of Section 69 of the Customs Act, 1962, as also duly admitted by Sh.  Dushyant Patel, Partner of M/s World Link and Sh. Manoj Khona, Partner  of M/s Zee Shipping Services, in their respective statements. Hence condition for exemption of the Customs Duty availed on such bunker at the time of import stands violated and which rendered the goods imported illegally in terms of Section 111 (o) of the Customs Act, 1962.  The above facts were duly corroborated in view of the many Shipping Bills found  without endorsement of the concerned Customs Officers and also supporting statements recorded of the concerned Customs Officers, Barge Operator  and of M/s Zee Shipping Services, as discussed in foregoing paras and detailed in Annexure-A to this SCN. Further the corresponding EGM of the recipient vessels did not show any receipt of bonded bunker (in some of the cases) in terms of Rules 3 of the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations, 1976.  The above facts were evidenced in view of the EGMs received from the concerned Custom Houses, and supporting statements recorded of the shipping agents in this connection as discussed in the foregoing Paras. The above acts of omission and commission by M/s World Link  were  done with  full knowledge of existing and mandatory legal provisions with respect to export/supply of bonded bunker and therefore it was all done intently and willfully  to keep their illegal exports/diversion of bunker from purview of any monitoring and supervisions of the Customs. Therefore, all such Bonded Bunker, supplies of which allegedly shown by M/s World Link to the foreign going vessels, without “Let Export” permission from the concerned Superintendent of Customs in violation of Section 51 of the Customs Act 1962 and without supervision of the Customs in violation of Section 34 of the Customs Act, 1962, were actually not made and hence liable to be confiscated in terms of Section 111(o), 113 (f), 113 (g) & 113 (k) of the Customs Act, 1962. Further Customs Duty along with appropriate interest also stands recoverable on all such supplies of the bonded bunker under Section 28 (4) & Section 28 AA(1) read with Section 72 (1) of the Customs Act, 1962.  

22.
By way of various acts and omission on their part M/s World Link is found to have indulged in willful misrepresentation and suppression of facts with respect to supply of bonded bunker to foreign going vessels. At the time of import of bunker by M/s World Link itself, while subscribing to the declarations with execution of the Warehousing Bond, they had reasons to believe that the same were not genuine, for the reasons the warehoused bonded bunker was intended to be sold to the agent like M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar under cover of Shipping Bill, instead of supplying Ex-bond to the vessels under foreign run. Further, the information regarding intended supply of bonded bunker was deliberately suppressed from the concerned Customs authority as supplies were shown without supervision of Customs at the port of supply. In the same way, fact related to such supplies were also suppressed at Customs House, Kandla, where such Shipping Bill were filed, by willfully avoiding taking permission for “Let Export” in the Shipping Bill at the time of supply, and then the facts of such alleged supplies were not mentioned in concerned EGMs of the recipient vessels, to conceal the fact of diversion and illegal clearance of the bonded bunker. In many of the supplies of bonded bunker by M/s World Link  to vessels under foreign run, it was found that supplies were made invariably under supervision of the concerned Customs authority as well as,  prior to this proper officer of Customs had given permission of Let Export in the Shipping Bill. So the above act of M/s World Link in the cases of supplies, where no permission for let export were taken and supplies were not made under Custom’s supervision, the exports/supplies of bunker to vessel in terms of Shipping Bill actually have not taken place however by misrepresenting the facts with respect to supplies, signatures of the concerned Custom Officers were obtained unlawfully in Shipping Bills. Moreover false entries were made in Log Books and Oil Record Books to show the supplies/exports which have not taken place as discussed in foregoing Para. The above anomalies and irregularities  were found in selected cases of bunker supply by M/s World Link  and such act of misrepresentation and suppression of fact were committed by them  with active connivance of the engaged agent at Jamnagar M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar with fraudulent intention to cause diversion of bonded bunker as detailed in Annexure-A to this SCN in order to evade Custom Duty  to the tune of Rs. 99,23,292/-, the exemption of which availed by them on the import of all such bunker found diverted.Therefore the Customs Duty amounting to Rs. 99,23,292/- exemption of which availed on import of all such bonded bunker, however found  illegally cleared  and diverted, is liable to be recovered from M/s World Link  under Section 28(4) of the Customs Act,1962 read with Section 72 of the Customs Act,1962 along with interest under Section  28AA(1) of the Customs Act,1962.   

23.
The duty free import of the FO & HSD was allowed to M/s World Link subject to the condition that the imported bunker would be used only for the purpose of export/supply to foreign run vessels as bunker, in terms of the Warehousing Bonds filed by them under Section 59 of the Customs Act, 1962.  However, it was found in the investigation that M/s World Link has not only acted in complete disregard of the undertaking so tendered by them in terms of Section 59 of the Customs Act, 1962 by way of diverting the duty free imported bunkers as well as making illicit exports/supplies thereof, but also contravened the provisions of Section 85, 87 & 88 of the Customs Act, 1962. Hence, in view of the above, the imports of such bunker became illegal for the reasons, the condition under which exemption from the Customs Duty was extended to M/s World Link, were violated and therefore, Customs Duty is liable to be recovered on all such diverted bunker, under provisions of Section 72 of the Customs Act, 1962 and in terms of the Warehousing Bond/undertaking executed by the M/s World Link at the time of import of all such FO and HSD. Further all such bunker found diverted in violation of the undertaking filed under Section 59 of the Act, become liable for confiscation under Section 111 (o) of the Customs Act, 1962. 

24.
Incidentally, it may be pertinent to add here that the onus that the impugned goods were supplied to foreign going vessels was squarely on the assessee and the department only has to show to establish the case that the assessee has failed to discharge that onus. However, and without prejudice to what was stated in the preceding sentence, the department has clearly established that the impugned goods were cleared in violation of the provisions of the Customs Act.   

25.
In view of above, a show cause notice No. S/10-13/Adj/2010-11 dated 23.06.2011 was issued to:

(i)
 M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Manali Chamber, Sector-1A, Plot No.- 306,  Gandhidham, to show cause to the Commissioner of Customs, Kutch Commissionerate, Kandla, as to why:

a.
1467.710 MT of Furnace Oil valued at Rs. 2,33,44,669/- and 239.940 MT of HSD  valued at Rs. 68,02,908/-, should not be confiscated under Section 111(d) & 111(o) and Section 113 (f), 113(g) & 113(k) of the Customs Act,1962 for the reasons of being illegal in terms of the provisions of the Customs Act,1962 [as per Annexure-B (Sheet-1 & Sheet-2) to the SCN].

b.
Duties of Customs amounting to Rs. 78,65,138/- on 1467.710 MT of Furnace Oil and  Rs. 20,58,154 /-, on 239.940 MT  of HSD should not be recovered from them under Section 28 (4) read with Section 72 (1)  of the Customs Act,1962 [as per Annexure-A & Annexure-B (Sheet-1 & Sheet-2) to the SCN]. 

c.
Interest at appropriate rate should not be recovered from them on the amount of duty as above under Section 28 AA(1) of the Customs Act, 1962.

d.
Penalty should not be imposed on them under Section 112(a) and 114(ii) of the Customs Act, 1962.

e.
Penalty should not be imposed on them under Section 114A of the Customs Act, 1962.


(ii)
Sh. Dushyant R. Patel, Partner of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Gandhidham and Director of barge operator company M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., Gandhidham, to show cause to Commissioner of Customs, Kutch Commissionerate, Kandla, as to why the Penalty should not be imposed upon them under Section 112 (a), 114 (ii) and 114 AA of the Customs Act, 1962.

(iii)
M/s Zee Shipping Services, Flat No.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar to show cause to Commissioner of Customs, Kutch Commissionerate, Kandla, as to why the Penalty should not be imposed upon them under Section 112 (b) and 114 (ii) of the Customs Act, 1962.

(iv)
M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No:-306, Gandhidham, to show cause to Commissioner of Customs, Kutch Commissionerate, Kandla,  to why the Penalty should not be imposed upon them under Section 112 (b) and 114 (ii) of the Customs Act, 1962.

26.   
After due process of law, the said show cause notice was adjudicated by the then Commissioner of Customs, Kandla vide Order-in-Original No.KDL/COMMR/41/ 2012-13 dated 29.11.2012 wherein the demands were confirmed and penalities were imposed on various noticees. 

26.1
Among various findings the then adjudicating authority had found that there were no entry of bunker supply in the EGMs filed and held that EGM is a very important document which indicates whether the goods have actually been exported or otherwise. Further, he found that from the statements of various Custom officers that all bunker supplies were not made under their physical supervisions. M/s World Link TC Bond (exporter) had failed to provide the name of barge used for supplying the bunkers to foreign going vessels. He also found that there was no entry in OIL RECORD BOOK maintained in the barges to establish any such supplies to foreign going vessels. Further, he found that there is manipulation of documents to show bunker supply. Moreover, he also found that from the statements of various noticees have also corroborated the facts of non-supply of bunker to the vessels and after considering other evidences on record the then Commissioner of passed the O-I-O which is re-produced herein below:
ORDER 

(a) 
I order Confiscation of 1467.710 MT of Fuel Oil valued at Rs.2,33,44,669.00 and 239.940  MT of HSD valued at Rs.68,02,908.00 under Section 111(d) & 111(o), Sections 113(f), 113(g) and 113(k) of the Customs Act,1962. However, since the same are not available for confiscation, having been already cleared, I do not impose any redemption fine in lieu of their redemption on such confiscation.

(b) 
I confirm the demand of Custom duty amounting to Rs.99,23,292.00 (Rupees ninty nine lakhs twenty three thousand two hundred ninty two only) i.e. duty amounting to Rs.78,65,138.00 on 1467.710 of Furnace Oil and Rs.20,58,154.00 on 239.940 MT of HSD under Section 28(4) read with Section 72(1) of the Customs Act,1962 and determine the same as amount of customs duty under Section 28(8) of the Customs Act, 1962 recoverable from M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No.306, Gandhidham.

(c) 
I order the recovery of Interest at the appropriate rate from M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No.306, Gandhidham, on the amount of duty as above at (b) under Section 28AA(1) of the Customs Act, 1962

(d) 
I Impose penalties as mentioned against each, on the following persons/firms. 

	Sl. No.
	Name of the person / firm
	Section of the Customs Act, 1962 under which penalty imposed
	Amount of penalty in figures
	Amount of penalty in words

	1
	M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No.306, Gandhidham
	114A
	Rs.99,23,292/-
	Rupees ninety nine lakhs twenty three thousand two hundred ninety two only

	
	
	TOTAL
	Rs.99,23,292/-
	Rupees ninety nine lakhs twenty three thousand two hundred ninety two only

	2
	M/s Zee Shipping Services, Flat No.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar
	112(b) 
	Rs.12,50,000/-
	Rupees Twelve lacs Fifty Thousand only

	
	
	114(ii)
	Rs.12,50,000/-
	Rupees Twelve lacs Fifty Thousand only

	
	
	TOTAL
	Rs.25,00,000/-
	Rupees Twenty Five Lacs only

	3
	M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No.306, Gandhidham
	112(b) 
	Rs.12,50,000/-
	Rupees Twelve lacs Fifty Thousand only

	
	
	114(ii)
	Rs.12,50,000/-
	Rupees Twelve lacs Fifty Thousand only

	
	
	TOTAL
	Rs.25,00,000/-
	Rupees Twenty Five Lacs only

	4
	Sh. Dushyant Patel, Partner, M/s World Link TC Bond Store,Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No:-306, Gandhidham,
	112(a) 
	Rs.5,00,000/-
	Rupees Five lacs only

	
	
	114(ii)
	Rs.5,00,000/-
	Rupees Five lacs only

	
	
	114AA
	Rs.10,00,000/-
	Rupees Ten lacs only

	
	
	TOTAL
	Rs.20,00,000/-
	Rupees Twenty Lacs only


27. 
CESTAT vide Order No. A/11395-11397/2013 Dated 24.10.2013 & A/10352/2014 dated 10.03.2014  

Aggrieved by the Order-in-Original No. KDL/COMMR/41/2012-13 dated 29.11.2012 passed by Commissioner of Customs, Kandla, M/s World Link TC Bond Store, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport, Sh. Dushyant Patel & M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, filed appeals in the Hon’ble Customs Excise & Service Tax Appellate Tribunal (CESTAT), West Zonal Bench,  Ahmedabad. The CESTAT vide Order No. A/11395-11397/2013 dated 24.10.2013 (in the case of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport, Sh. Dushyant Patel) had remanded the matter back to the adjudicating authority for reconsideration of the issue by observing that the adjudicating authority has not considered their statutory documents and shipping bills of the furnace oil, which was loaded on to the ocean going vessels and adjudicating authority has not addressed the important pleas raised by the appellant as regards the scrutiny of the document, which has been signed by the departmental officer, which would indicate export of bonded goods. As per the CESTAT’s order, M/s World Link TC Bond Store has deposited Rs. 10 Lacs on 05.12.2013 and submitted the copy of the challan vide their letter dated 06.01.2015. And vide Order No. A/10352/2014 dated 10.03.2014 in the case of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar also remanded the matter back to the adjudicating authority. Accordingly, the matter is taken up afresh for de-novo adjudication, since all issues had been kept opened by the Hon’ble CESTAT under the aforesaid order.

28. 
Personal hearing-

28.1
Personal Hearing in respect of M/s World Link, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel - Accordingly, the personal hearing was fixed on 25.02.2015 in respect of M/s World Link, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel, however, M/s World Link (on behalf of all appellants i.e. M/s World Link, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel) vide their letter dated 25.02.2015 has submitted that,-

“Sh. Dusyhant Patel is also granted hearing in an identical case involving M/s. BGH Exim Ltd. on 9.3.2015. Therefore, our legal counsel has advised us to request your Honour that hearing granted to Sh. Dushyant Patel, M/s. World Link TC Bond Store and M/s. Blue Ocean Sea Transport on identical cases can be represented together”.

(ii)
Further, as request by them, personal hearing was again given to them on 09.03.2015, however, M/s World Link (on behalf of all i.e. M/s World Link, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel) vide their letter dated 09.03.2015 requested to adjourn the personal hearing till 13.03.2015, which was granted to them.
(iii)
As per their request, another personal hearing was granted on 13.03.2015, however, M/s World Link (on behalf of all i.e. M/s World Link, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel) vide their letter dated 13.03.2015 requested for another short adjournment, which was allowed. 
(iv)
They were granted another personal hearing on 08.04.2015, however, M/s World Link (on behalf of all i.e. M/s World Link, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel) vide their letter dated 07.04.2015 again requested for another date on 13.04.2015, which was admitted.
(v)
Further, as requested the personal hearing was again re-fixed for 13.04.2015, however, Sh. Paresh Sheth of V.B. Sheth & Co. (Advocate) on behalf of M/s World Link, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel, vide their letter dated 13.04.2015 has submitted that,-

“I have been appointed by M/s. World Link TC Bond Store, M/s. Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel to represent them before your Honour in the matter remanded by Hon. Tribunal vide Order No. A/11395-11397/WZB/AHD/2013 dated 24.10.2013. I am also representing M/s. Gujarat Mariner and Sh. Dushyant Patel in identical case covered by show cause notice No. S/10-14/Adj/2011-12 dated 23.6.2011.

In both the above cases, your Honour was pleased to consider our request and grant us hearing on 13.4.2015. Further, I am also appointed by M/s. Mahesh Agri Exim Pvt. Ltd., Mumbai to represent them before your Honour on 16.4.2015 at Mundra in their matter remanded by Hon. Tribunal under Order No.A/11393/WZB/AHD/2013 dated 24.10.2013. He requested to allow him to represent all the above three matters at Kandla on 16.4.2015.

(vi)
In the said matter, the personal hearings were fixed on 25.02.2015, 09.03.2015 which was changed to 13.03.2015, 08.04.2015 & 13.04.2015 and in most of the cases the dates of personal hearings were fixed as requested by the noticees and they had failed to appear on the scheduled date and time for the same. Further, on going through their submissions, it is noticed that they were only trying to delay the adjudication process by way of adjournments under various pretexts. Section 122 A of Customs Act, 1962, lays down the procedure for adjudication of customs cases. The adjudicating authority may, if sufficient cause is shown at any stage of proceeding referred to in sub-section (1) grant time, from time to time, to the parties or any of them and adjourn the hearing for the reasons to be recorded in writing; Provided that no such adjournment shall be granted more than three times to a party during the proceeding. 

(vii)
From the above, it can be seen that they were granted opportunities of personal hearings as permitted under the above said legal provision and they have not availed the opportunities for the best reasons known to them. Thus the noticees are making fun of the adjudication proceedings. Accordingly, I proceed to decide the case on the basis of material available on records before me and on merits. 

28.2
Personal Hearing of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar - M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar vide their letter dated 31.07.2015 has requested for waiver of personal hearing in the case.
29.
Defence Reply and discussions: I have gone through the Show Cause Notice and documents viz. Panchnamas and the voluntary statements, of the concerned persons including the noticees herein, available on record. The case of the Customs is that M/s World Link, Gandhidham in connivance with M/s Zee Shiping Services, Jamnagar and M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., Gandhidham made and executed a plan under which the duty free Furnace Oil, HSD, Fuel Oil etc. was imported under warehousing procedure and the same was “illegally Exported” out of India, under the guise of “Export” to “Stores” on “Foreign Going Vessel”, by them without observing the statutory requirements under the Customs law to which they cannot claim to be innocent / ignorent. The case of the Customs is that although the goods were taken out of charge “Ex-Bond” successfully yet the same was not supplied to any “Foreign Going Vessel”. They were also helped circumstantially by the Customs officers posted at Sikka, Vadinar, Jamnagar, Bedi etc. Furthermore, there is nothing on record to suggest whether these Custom Officers were also at hand in gloves with the noticees or otherwise, since there is no investigation by the DRI in this direction. It is pertinent to mention here that although they had admitted their failure in their statutory duties, yet, none of them was made a noticee in the Show Cause Notice dated 23.06.2011. My learned predecessor (the previous Adjudicating Authority), while passing the Order-In-Original, dated 29.11.2012, had also endorsed one copy of the same, to the Commissioner of Customs, Jamnagar, to examine their role from vigilance angle and to initiate action against the officers under applicable service rules, if found guilty. However, for the sake of arguments, even if it is considered that any of the Custom officers posted in the Customs formations of Kandla or Jamnagar was also in connivance with the noticees herein, and commited errors knowingly or unknowingly, it would not change the material fact that the duty free imported Furnace Oil, HSD, Fuel Oil etc. was diverted, under the guise of “Export” on “Stores” to “Foreign Going Vessels” in gross violation of the Customs Act, 1962, and the rules framed there under, in view of the overwhelming evidences on record. 
I have also gone through the defence replies, written as well as oral submissions, advanced by the Noticees, and I do not find any substance in their submissions. The noticees in the instant matter apparently have made a futile attempt in their submissions which do not hold water against the evidences available on record. The evidences available before me outweigh their defence arguments. The defence argues only minor points that are apparently in their favour, however, on reading the Show Cause Notice as whole, it appears that the same were mis-leading the adjudication proceeding. I am discussing the defence submissions and the evidences available before me on record, hereunder: 
29.1
Reply of M/s World Link:

M/s World Link vide their letter dated 15.04.2015 have submitted written submissions which consists of reply to the show cause notice, Order passed by Hon. Tribunal, Shipping Bill wise rebuttal to the allegations contained in the notice, Shipping Bills bearing endorsements by Custom Officers at the port of loading as well as at the port of shipment and transit bonds executed by them at the time of dispatching the goods from Kandla that were subsequently cancelled by the “Proper Officer” after being satisfied with the lawful export of goods covered by the Shipping Bills. They have urged to give consideration to the submission and documentary evidence establishing lawful export of the goods and drop the proceedings, in-toto. 

29.2
On going through the written submissions, it is found that their reply a repetition of their letter dated 16.08.2012, which was incorporated in the impugned Order-in-Original No. KDL/COMMR/41/2012-13 dated 29.11.2012, by the adjudicating authority, while commenting on the defence reply. Therefore, for the sake of brevity, it is not reproduced again. Further, they have adduced a few points other than their reply dated 16.08.2012 and since it has been ordered by Hon’ble CESTAT, the same are being re-considered hereunder: 
(ii)
Para 5(a): - Under Para 5 (a) of the written submission, they urged that there is no positive evidence on record that the goods covered by the 09 nos. of Shipping Bills were diverted and were not supplied to the vessel as declared in the Shipping Bill. 

I have noticed that the Show Cause Notice clearly establish that the goods intended to be supplied were not actually supplied to the vessels. In many cases the connected statutory documents were found without any endorsement “Let Export”, also the EGM filed by the shipping lines were found without having any entry to establish the fact that bunkers were actually supplied to them while going through the documents available on records as under:
(a) 
The scrutiny of the S/B F-2314/19.12.06 indicates that 424.410 MT of Furnace Oil was supplied to MT Marilee on account of M/s World Link TC Bond Store at Sikka anchorage, from Kandla on 20.12.2006 through barge Hope Island under EGM No. F-570/26.12.2006. In this regard, it was observed that Sh. Viman Ghosh under his voluntary statement dated 10.01.08 admitted that it took around 6 hrs to travel by Hope Island from Kandla to Sikka; that the barge had a capacity of 370-400 KL of bunker at a time (the quantity of the store claimed to be supplied is much more than the carrying capacity of the barrage); that the said barge took around 05 hours for full loading of bunker through pipeline; and it took 10-12 hours for full loading through Tanker Trucks; that the discharging was done by Hope Island into the vessel at the speed of 120 KL / hour, if the vessel was on equal elevation, however, in case, the receiving vessel on higher elevation discharging would be done at the speed of 80-90 KL / hour. Sh. Hetal Kumar H. Ravasia under his voluntary statement dated 18.12.2008 admitted in respect of the said S/B that supply was shown to have been made without any “Let Export” permission, which is “illegal Export” and also the EGM of the recipient vessel did not confirm receipt of any such bunker supply. The same fact was also admitted by S/Sh. Dushyant patel and Manoj B. Kohna in their voluntary statements dated 01.04.09 and 26.05.2011 respectively. 
(b)
The S/B F-3289/28.03.07 indicates that 140.48 MTs of FO was supplied to vessel MT Iran Fazel on 29.03.2007 at Sikka in Hope Island –II. In this regard, it was observed that Sh. Dushyant Patel under his statement dated 10.09.2008, had admitted that the quantity of the stores supplied was not tallying with the Oil Record Book of the barrage; that the EGM F-05/03.04.2007, of vessel MT Iran Fazel, was not found substantiating the supply of the bunker as claimed by them. Sh. Kohna also in his statement dated 26.05.11 had admitted that subject supply was under doubt / shadow as the same was not under supervision of Customs at Sikka Port. 

(c) 
The shipping Bill No. F-679/15.06.07, indicates that 20 MTs of HSD was supplied to Tug JU 251 at Sikka on 17.06.2007 on account of M/s World link TC Bond Store. In this regard, it was observed that Sh. Hetal Kumar Ravasia after perusing the connecting EGM No. F-178/11.06.2007 confirmed that the said Tug JU 251 had sailed from Sikka on 05.06.2007 and also the said EGM did not confirm any such bunker supplies as shown under the Shipping Bill Nos. F-679/15.06.2007. On being questioned by the DRI, Sh. Dushyant Patel on 15.04.2011, stated that the bunker was sold by them to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, thus the onus to prove the bunker supply was shifted on M/s Zee Shipping Services. Sh. Manoj B. Kohna under his statement dated 26.05.2011, after perusing the above said documents agreed to the fact that subject supply was not made as claimed vide Shipping Bill No. F-679/15.06.2007; 

(d) 
The shipping bill no. 547/01.06.07 indicates that 49.39 MTs of HSD were supplied to the vessel Tug Jabbar at Sikka Port through bunker barge Zee-II. In this regard, it was observed that Sh. Dushant Patel under his statement dated 10.09.2008 was shown this Shipping Bill vide which 49.390 MT of HSD was shown as supplied to Tug Jabbar, however the same was not confirmed as per the EGM No. F-183/11.06.2007 of the said Tug. Sh. Patel stated that the subject supply was arranged and made through M/s Zee Shipping Services and therefore he was not aware as how subject supply was made. Sh. Manoj B. Kohna under his statement dated 26.05.2011 admitted after persuing their letter dated 22.09.2008 (as per which above supplies were not made through barge Zee-II), that the supply to above named tug cannot be confirmed.

(e)
The shipping bill no. 701/20.06.07 indicates that 67.270 MT of HSD was supplied to Tug valentine-1 at Sikka Port. In this regard, it was observed that the EGM of the vessel sent by Customs House Sikka, mentioned all other store supply but for bunker. The PO (Bond) report on the Shipping Bill indicates that the supply had been made through Tanker Trucks, but there is no link as to how the supply was made at anchorage without help of any barge, since at Sikka Port, supply of stores is allowed at the point of anchorage only. Moreover, the records of the barge available with the noticees nowhere indicates that the supply was made through their barge. Sh. Patel stated that the subject supply was arranged and made through M/s Zee Shipping Services only and therefore he was not aware as how subject supply was made, whereas Sh. Manoj B. Kohna under his statement dated 26.05.2011 admitted after persuing their letter dated 22.09.2008 (as per which above supplies were not made through barge Zee-II), that the supply to above named tug cannot be confirmed.

(f)
The scrutiny of the shipping bill No. 703/20.06.07 indicates that 36.99 MTs of HSD was supplied to Tug Neptune Star at Sikka port. In this regard, it was observed that the EGM of the vessel sent by Customs House Sikka, mentioned all other store supply but for bunker. The PO (Bond) report on the Shipping bill indicates that the supply had been made through Tanker Trucks, but there is no link as to how the supply was made at anchorage without help of any barge, since at Sikka Port, supply of stores is allowed at the point of anchorage only. Moreover, the records of the barge available with the noticees nowhere indicates that the supply was made through their barge. Sh. Patel stated that the subject supply was arranged and made through M/s Zee Shipping Services only and therefore he was not aware as how subject supply was made, whereas Sh. Manoj B. Kohna under his statement dated 26.05.2011 admitted after persuing their letter dated 22.09.2008 (as per which above supplies were not made through barge Zee-II), that the supply to above named tug cannot be confirmed. Furthermore, the vessel was shown as sailed from the port on 21.06.2007, whereas the supplies were claimed to have been made on 22.06.2007, and it only indicates that the goods got diverted, but documents were made to sit their connivance. 

(g) 
The scrutiny of the Shipping Bill No. 917/28.07.2006 indicates that 757.950 MTs of Furnace Oil was supplied to MT Yan Shui Hu at Sikka port. In this regard, it was observed that as per the shipping bill the quantity supplied was 800 MTs. The supply was made without “Let Export” in the concerned Shipping Bill as evident by the Xerox copy of the Shipping Bill (Duplicate copy) sent with the EGM by Sikka Customs originally. The signatures of the Chief Engineer of the vessel was altogether different from his signatures on other documents, which in-fact were purportedly made by Sh. Amit Digwani of M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., as admitted by him in his statement dated 16.02.2009, in which Sh. Dushant Patel was a partner. Thus the signatures were made either at instance of Sh. Dushant Patel of M/s World Link or M/s Zee Shipping Services. M/s World Link had failed to furnish any credible evidence for supply of Furnace oil in this case. This fact was also admitted by Sh. Manoj Kohna in his statement dated 26.05.2011. Furthermore, the Customs Officer at West Gate, Kandla port passed the Tanker trucks (TT) on 06.08.2006. Bond PO had shown the above bunker loaded on barge on 05.08.2006. Thus, Bunker was shown to be loaded in the barge even before the same was cleared through the port gate. In this regard M/s World Link submitted that loading of goods into Tanker Trucks, transfer of goods to the bunker barge, escorting and delivery to the vessel have been duly supervised and certified by Customs Officers. Though Sh. Patel, in his statement had argued that the Custom Officer posted refused to “put his signature”, yet he could not produce any evidence to substantiate his contention. It is beyond comprehension that why any Custom Officer would refuse to sign a licit document, if the export has actually taken place.  
(h)
The scrutiny of the shipping bill No. 755/12.07.2006 indicates that 144.87 MTs of Furnace Oil was supplied to MT Jo Rogn at Sikka port. In this regard, it was observed that as per the shipping bill the quantity supplied was 150 MTs. The supply was made without “Let Export” in the concerned shipping bill as evident by the Xerox copy of the shipping bill (Duplicate copy) sent with the EGM by Sikka Customs originally. Shri Dushyant Patel in his statement dated 19.04.2008 admitted certain anamolies, to which he could not give any convincing reply due to which the supply comes under dark e.g. that supply was made through Hope Island but its name was nowhere mentioned in the said S/B; that on the xerox of the duplicate S/B, there was no signature of any Customs Officer in column “Let Export”, whereas on the original of duplicate copy of the same S/B signature of Superintendent of Customs House, Kandla was found to have been made in column “Let Export” and also on the Xerox of the Duplicate of same S/B, at page 17 of EGM of vessel, which was signed by Chief Engineer of vessel without any endorsements of Customs Officer of Sikka. Shri Charles Mathew in his statement dated 01.12.2008 admitted that the subject supply was not supervised by him physically. This fact was also admitted by Sh. Manoj Kohna under his statement dated 26.05.2011. 
(i)
The scrutiny of the shipping bill No. 702/20.06.2007 indicates that 66.82 MTs of HSD was supplied to Tug Lady Hammond at Sikka port. In this regard, it was observed that Sh. Dushyant Patel during his statement admitted that in this case bunker was first dispatched from Kanlda Port to Sikka in Tanker Trucks, where the same was handed over to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, thereafter how supply was effected by M/s Zee Shipping Services was not known to him. Shri Manoj Khona, partner of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, admitted this in his statement dated 26.05.2011, stating that M/s World Link sold, the HSD covered under the above shipping bill, to M/s Zee Shipping Services, who thereafter supplied the same to the tug Lady Hammond through bunker barge Zee-II, however, on perusal of the details submitted by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar vide letter dated 22.09.2008, he accepted that supply to tug was not confirmed as above details of supplies through barge Zee-II did not show any such supply.    

(j) 
Sh. Dushyant Patel in his statement dated 15.04.2011 on being asked about payments, if any, received from Tug Owner’s company  for causing supply of bunker viz. HSD to vessels namely Tug Valentine-1, Tug Neptune Star, Tug Lady Hammond, Tug Jabbar under S/Bs Nos. F- 701/20.06.2007 F-703/20.06.2007, F-702/20.06.2007 and 547/01.06.2007, to which he admitted that they had not received any payment from the owner’s company of above Tugs instead they had sold the bunkers to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar for these supplies and accordingly the payment was received from them (M/s Zee Shipping) only through cheques. Thus M/s World Link accepted that the “stores” imported by them duty free, which was actually meant for export to “Foreign Going vessels”, for which they had executed bonds with the Customs, were diverted by them to their partners viz. M/s Zee Shipping Services and received the payments. This fact proves that M/s World Link never cared for the Customs Law or about the conditions of the bond they had executed with the Customs. They have illegally sold the “stores” to M/s Zee Shipping Services and payment was received from them. In their defence they failed to bring forward any positive evidence that the stores were actually supplied to any “Foreign Going vessels”. 

(iii)
Para 5(b): - It is a matter of record that each of the 09 Shipping Bills bears signatures of officers of Bond section of Customs, Kandla. During the course of inquiry, none of them had stated that they had committed any error in affixing their signatures and that the goods were not assessed, examined, loaded onto tanker trucks, transferred to bunker barge, shipped, escorted and delivered to the declared vessel. None of them stated that their signing of the shipping bills was an empty formality and these signatures stood for nothing in the eyes of law. On the other hand, the notice does not allege negligence or collusion on the part of officers. In view of this, there is absolutely no substance in the allegation that goods were either not supplied/exported or any illegality was involved in the supply/export thereof to the declared vessel.

I have thoroughly examined the contention of the notices. It is a fact that putting their signatures on the documents is a statutory obligation on the part of the officers, simultaneously, to get the documents endorsed by the officers, is an obligation on the part of the exporters, for the failure of which there is no scope under the Customs law. Furthermore, the signatures of the Customs officers posted at bond section of Customs House, Kandla proves that the goods were dispatched from the warehouses by observing all formalities, it does, however, not even indicates that the “stores” were supplied to the intended “foreign going vessels” for which the bond was executed by them. Though, the goods were properly assessed, examined and loaded on the bunkers / tanker trucks and were dispatched from Kandla, it is a fact the intended “foreign going vessels” were at port/anchorage of Sikka, Bedi, Vadinar etc. (not at Kandla) and the Customs officers posted at those ports have denied their personal physical supervision, which was also confirmed by the masters of the barges. Moreover, it is pertinent to mention here that Sh. Dushyant patel had also admitted in many cases, that the bunkers were sold to M/s Zee Shipping Services and he was unaware about the supply thereof.
(iv)
 Para 5 (c) and (d):- The transit and the warehousing bonds were duly cancelled by the proper officer only after convincing himself that all the conditions governing the exemption were duly observed.
I find that it is an admitted fact on the part of the Customs Officers posted at the ports of alleged Export namely Sikka, that they have not done the physical supervision of Export of stores to Foreign going vessles, which was also confirmed by the masters of the barrages who used to be present on the conveyance. Furthermore, Sh. Amit Dingwani of M/s Blue Ocean Sea transport limited admitted that he used to put his signatures as “Chief Engineer / Master” of the recipient vessel on the instance of M/s Zee Shipping Services, which was also corroborated by Sh. Manoj B. Kohna in his statement dated 26.05.2011. I do not find anything on record which suggests that the above facts were brought in the knowledge of the “Proper Officer” by the noticees prior to cancellation of the bonds. Thus the “proper Officer” discharged his statutory duties, by cancelling the bonds and acted in good faith, on the strength of the signed documents produced by them. By the above acts, the criminal mis-conduct of the noticee is very evident in forging signatures of the chief engineer/ master of the vessels and diverted those stores. 
(v) 
Para 5(e):- It is submitted that no verification has been caused with the owners of the vessels who had made payment against bunkers supplied to their vessels named in the Shipping Bills filed by them. In absence of this, it cannot be alleged that these vessels did not receive the bunkers covered by the Shipping Bills filed by them.

It is there that no verification has been caused with the owners of the vessels to whom it is claimed that the bunkers were supplied, named in the Shipping Bills. In this regard the fact is that Sh. Dushyant Patel in his statement dated 15.04.2011 on being asked about payments, if any, received from Tug Owner’s company  for causing supply of bunker viz. HSD to vessels namely Tug Valentine-1, Tug Neptune Star, Tug Lady Hammond, Tug Jabbar under S/Bs Nos. F- 701/20.06.2007 F-703/20.06.2007, F-702/20.06.2007 and 547/01.06.2007, to which he admitted that they had not received any payment from the owner’s company of above Tugs instead they had sold the bunkers to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar for these supplies and accordingly the payment was received from M/s Zee Shipping, which also admitted by sh. Manoj B. Kohna, in his statement dated 26.05.2011. Nowhere, in the defence submission it was suggested that the statements were otherwise involuntary. I do not find any reason to disbelieve what was stated by the suppliers voluntarily. There appears no need to carry the investigation further up to a foreign going vessel, the chain of evidence got linked when the suppliers themselves admitted non-supply and forging of the documents. It is settled law that what has been admitted need not be proved.
(vi)
Para 5(f):- 
It is nowhere brought out in the notice that Resolution No. P-23015/1/2001-MKT dated 8.3.2002 of Ministry of Petroleum & Natural Gas cited in paragraph 17(g) of the notice would apply to imported goods which are neither meant for home consumption nor actually cleared or diverted for home consumption. Therefore, reliance placed in this resolution is completely misplaced. It is submitted that it is incorrect to allege that goods covered by the Shipping Bills under consideration have been rendered liable to confiscation under Section 111(d) and (o) of the Customs Act, 1962.

I find that the section 111(d) of the Customs Act, 1962, paves way for confiscation of improperly imported goods viz. any goods which are imported or attempted to be imported or are brought within the Indian customs waters for the purpose of being imported, contrary to any prohibition imposed by or under this Act or any other law for the time being in force. Similarly Section 111 (o) reads that any goods exempted, subject to any condition, from duty or any prohibition in respect of the import thereof under this Act or any other law for the time being in force, in respect of which the condition is not observed unless the non-observance of the condition was sanctioned by the proper officer; any notified goods in relation to which any provisions of Chapter IVA or of any rule made under this Act for carrying out the purposes of that Chapter have been contravened, would be liable to confiscation. In case of supply of HSD to vessels as bunker, S/B was filed in name of M/s World Link for Ex-bond supply/Export to the foreign going vessels, however, instead of causing supply to the vessels, they sold the same to the bunker traders namely M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, on receipt of payment in INR and never cared whether the bonded HSD was actually supplied to the vessels it was meant for or otherwise, in total disregard of the legal undertaking given by them while requesting for acceptance of the Warehousing Bond filed by them with Customs at the time of duty free import and warehousing of such HSD as bunker fuel. Hence purpose of export failed completely in the subject case as no foreign exchange was received by the exporter in terms of the S/B. Therefore taking cognizance of the above, such handing over of bonded HSD against payment in INR amounts to outright sales illegally and was therefore clear cut diversion of the bonded bunkers. Further such sales of HSD by M/s World Link was illegal also for the reasons that the said product is marketable only by the State Trading Enterprises or any other agencies as permitted in terms of Ministry of Petroleum & Natural Gas’s Resolution No. P-23015/1/2001-MKT dated 08.03.2002. Besides HSD is a restricted item under Exim Policy falling under ITC (HS) code 2710.1930 and import of which allowed through IOCL only subject to condition of Para 2.11 and through the canalized agencies only as empowered in terms of Para 2.28 and 2.36 of the Exim Policy. However, M/s World Link were allowed duty free import and warehousing of HSD, subject to the condition and undertaking to that effect tendered by them at the time of filing Warehousing Bond under Section 59 of the Customs Act, 1962, that the same would be supplied to foreign run vessels as bunker/Ship Stores. Therefore, the said legal undertaking was found violated by M/s World Link while showing supply of bunker to vessels and thereby rendered the import of all such bonded bunker (i.e. HSD) illegal. 
(vi)
Para 5(g), (h) and (i):- The allegation that the goods are liable to confiscation under Section 113(f), (g) and (k) of the Customs Act, 1962, is not sustainable in the eyes of law as the goods were exported in due compliance of Section 33 and 34 of the Customs Act, 1962. 

It is seem that the goods were ex-bonded in due compliance of the Customs Law, however, the same were “illegally exported” and diverted,  contrary to Customs Law as narrated in para supra (i) above while discussing their defence reply to para 5(a) and hence the same were liable to confiscation under Section 113 (f), (g) and (k) of the Customs, Act, 1962. 

(vii) 
Para 5(j):- The demand is time barred, since the assessment orders passed on B/e and S/B had attained finality and the bonds have been cancelled by the proper officer. 

The said bonds were cancelled by the “Proper Officer” on production of illegal documents by the noticees, where they have suppressed many facts and even resorted to the forgery of the documents. In view of the above the extended period of five years is correctly invoked for recovery of duties on all such diversion of bunker or non supplies to foreign going vessels. Further, as discussed in the foregoing paras, I find the bonder bunker diverted is liable for confiscation under Section 113(k) of the Customs Act, 1962. The discrepancies discussed under rebuttal to para 5(a) above clearly establishes, the mis-representation of the facts, willful mis-statement and culpable mental state on the part of the noticees. 
(viii) 
Para 5(k):- The proposal to confiscate the goods under Sections 111(d), (o), 133(f), (g) and (k) and imposition of redemption fine, is bad in law as held by the Tribunal in the matter of M/s Shiv Krupa Ispat Pvt. Ltd. Vs CCE, Nashik, 2009 (235) ELT 623 Tri-LB.

I find that The Larger Bench of the Hon’ble Mumbai Tribunal in the case of Shiv Kripa Ispat Pvt. Ltd. vs. Commissioner of Central Excise, Nasik [2009 (235) ELT 623 (Tri-LB)] (“Shiv Kripa Ispat Case”) had held that if the goods were allowed to be exported without executing any bond or the goods are not available for confiscation, in that situation redemption fine cannot be imposed. In that case, Revenue had failed to produce the evidence as to whether the subject goods were cleared for export under bond. Therefore, it was concluded by the larger bench of the tribunal that the goods in question were cleared for export without furnishing any bond. Therefore, it was held that although the goods were liable for confiscation; no redemption fine can be imposed in the light of Shiv Kripa Ispat Case. However, in the instant case, although the impugned goods were cleared illegally for export under Ex-Bond procedure, yet, the exporters failed to bring forward any conclusive evidence that the goods were not diverted. Hence, the confiscation is justifiable. As regards fine, it is an admissible fact that the goods are not available for confiscation; hence imposition of redemption fine would not be justifiable as the department would not in a position to return the goods, which the noticees could redeem.
(ix)
Para 5(L-1 and L-2):- The goods were given proper “Let Export” order either at Kandla or at Sikka was granted in principal and the goods were exported under proper supervison by the Customs Officers.

I have discussed about these submissions under Para 5(b) above. 

(x)
Para 6:-  Goods are not liable to confiscation as proposed and penality can not be imposed under section 112(a), 114 (ii) and 114A of the Customs Act, 1962.

As discussed in paras-supra, the bunkers comprising of 1467.71 MTs of Furnace Oil and 239.940 MT of HSD were diverted and “illegally exported” under the guise of 09 shipping bills in gross violation of the Customs law. The goods so “exported illegally” under the cover of 09 shipping bills, are therefore liable to confiscation and the exporters are consequently liable to penal action under the Customs Law.

30.
Submissions by M/s Zee Shipping Services:

Vide their letter dated 22.07.2015, they have submitted that they have closed down their operations and hence, there is some delay in filing this submission. Further, they have submitted as under,-

(i)
Para 5(a)
Each of the impugned 09 S/Bs, bears signatures of PO (B), Supdt. (B), AC (B) and the signatures of the Custom officers posted at, Sikka, indicating that the goods were assessed, examined, transported and delivered to the intended vessels under supervision of the Customs and Master of the vessel. None of the signatures have been alleged or proved to be fake / false. None of the officers have stated that they had committed any error in affixing their signatures on the S/Bs and the goods were not assessed, examined, loaded onto the tanker trucks, transferred to bunker barge, shipped, escorted and delivered to the declared vessel. There is no allegation of collusion. There is hardly any evidence to indicate that the goods were supplied to any person or place or vessel other than the vessel mentioned in the S/Bs filed by M/s. World Link TC Bond Store. Thus there is absolutely no substance in the allegation that they "arranged for endorsements of the Customs Officers which was unlawful and in violation to the provisions of the Customs Act, 1962." 

It is a fact that the Customs Officers posted at Sikka, have admittedly not done the physical supervision of Export of stores to Foreign going vessles, which was also confirmed by the masters of the barges who used to be present on the conveyance., Sh. Amit Dingwani of M/s Blue Ocean Sea transport limited admitted that he used to put his signatures as “Chief Engineer / Master” of the recipient vessel on the instance of M/s Zee Shipping Services, which was also corroborated by Sh. Manoj B. Kohna in his statement dated 26.05.2011, who himself had admitted that the supply of the bunkers was doubtful. I do not find any reason to disbelieve the statements of the Customs officers, masters of the barges and other concerned persons including Sh. Manoj. Furthermore there is no suggestion/allegation that the statements were otherwise voluntary.

(ii)
Para 5(b):-
As per the procedure narrated in the impugned show cause notice which is reproduced above, goods can be loaded onto TTs/bunker barge only after the "LEO” is granted. Consequently, when the Custom Officers of Kandla supervised the loading of goods onto TTs and transfer thereof to the bunker barge without demur, it implies that the "LEO" was duly granted by the Customs authorities at Kandla on the body of the shipping bill and no further or separate order was required in this regard. If it were the proposition of the show cause notice that "LEO" was required to be granted at Sikka port, it is submitted that none of the officers who have certified the shipments have stated that they had not sought permission and not produced the S/Bs, duly signed by the Custom officers of Kandla before the Custom House, Sikka for supply of the goods. Further, it is evident that the Custom officers at Sikka have certified the shipment only after being satisfied that goods were duly supplied. Therefore, they sincerely believe that if any separate "LEO" or “permission” was required to be granted by the Customs at Sikka, the same was granted in principal and only thereafter, the officers attended the shipments and allowed it under supervision by Customs. Thus, the allegation that mandatory provisions of "Let Export" permission under Section 51 of the Customs Act,1962, were overlooked is contrary to the procedure narrated in the show cause notice itself and therefore, the same is bad in law and hence, liable to be vacated; that the goods were supplied without Customs supervision
It is a statutory requirement that the LEO i.e. “Let Export order” is a statutory requirement to be granted by the Customs before physical export of the goods and is not a mere formality. The customs officers at Kandla are the “proper officer” to grant LEO in this case, since the duty free goods were imported at their jurisdiction, and the formalities pertaining to warehousing were also executed with them. They are the one with whom the bond was executed and the impugned goods were transshipped for Export under Ex-bond procedure, though the physical export was to be supervised by the officers at Sikka. In the instant case as narrated earlier “LEO” was not obtained at Kandla. Moreover, the officers posted at Sikka, committed an error by not fulfilling their statutory duties of physical supervision. Sh. Amit Dingwani of M/s Blue Ocean Sea transport limited admitted that he used to put his signatures as “Chief Engineer / Master” of the recipient vessel on the instance of M/s Zee Shipping Services, which was also corroborated by Sh. Manoj B. Kohna in his statement dated 26.05.2011, who himself had admitted that the supply of the bunkers was doubtful. Therefore, the goods were supplied without Customs supervision and in breach of Section 34 of the Customs Act, 1962. 

(iii) Para 5(c)
It is submitted that the statement dated 26.5.2011 of Sh. Manoj Khona is wrongly cited in the show cause notice to allege diversion of HSD meant for supply to Tug Jabbar, Tug Neptune Star, Barge Ju-251, Tug Valentine-l and Tug Lady Hammond. The reliance placed on the statement dated 26.5.2011 of Sh. Manoj Khona is also completely misplaced. 

It is observed that Sh. Manoj B. Kohna in his statement dated 26.05.2011 had admitted that the supply of the bunkers was doubtful, and that Sh. Amit put his signatures in guise of Chief Engineer / Master of the vessel on his instance. I do not find any reason to disbelieve the statements of the Customs officers, masters of the barges and other concerned persons including Sh. Manoj. Furthermore there is no suggestion/allegation that the statements were otherwise voluntary.

(iv)
In view of the above, it is submitted that none of the allegations leveled against M/s. Zee are sustainable in the eyes of law and accordingly, M/s. Zee are not liable to penalty under Section 112(b) and 114(ii) of the Customs Act, 1962. Therefore, they have requested to drop the proceedings initiated against M/s. Zee Shipping Service, Jamnagar. 

As discussed in paras-supra, the bunkers comprising of 1467.710 MT of Furnace Oil valued at Rs. 2,33,44,669/- and 239.940 MT of HSD valued at Rs. 68,02,908/- were diverted and “illegally exported” under the guise of 09 shipping bills in gross violation of the Customs law. The goods so “exported illegally” under the cover of 09 shipping bills, are therefore liable to confiscation and the exporters are consequently liable to penal action under the Customs Law.

31.
The other appellants (noticees) namely M/s. Blue Ocean Sea Transport and Sh. Dushyant Patel have neither filed any written submissions nor appeared for the personal hearings given to them on various dates.  

32.
Findings and observations:

32.1
I have gone through the records of the case, the impugned Show Cause Notice dated 23.06.2011, written as well as oral submissions made during the adjudication proceedings of earlier OIO No. KDL/COMMR/41/2012-13 dated 29.11.2012, CESTAT Order No. A/11395-11397/2013 Dated 24.10.2013 & A/10352/2014 dated 10.03.2014 and written as well as oral submissions made during the present adjudication proceedings.

32.2
Further, the directions of Hon’ble CESTAT, Ahmedabad in the remand order are very limited to that, the adjudicating authority had not considered (while passing the order), the statutory documents and Shipping Bills of the Furnace Oil, endorsed by the departmental officers in token of Export of the Goods. Thus, I had to restrict myself to take a decision on the issue of whether the endorsed Shipping Bills are to be considered as export of the bonded bunker or otherwise.

32.3
From above, I find that there is no mention of bunker supplies in EGM filed with the department, however, other store supplies have been shown invariably in the EGMs filed. Further, from the statements of Sh. Manoj Khona of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar (owner of Barge Zee-II), & Sh. Dushyant Patel of M/s World Link TC Bond, Gandhidham, it is clear that bunker supplies was not effected to the foreign going vessels which is confirmed by them. Moreover, there is a variation between shipments dates shown in some of the S/Bs in corresponding with the vessels sailed off date from the port. Duration of time taken for supply of bunkers through Tanker Trucks from bonded warehouse in Kandla to Sikka is more than 20 hours, however, it is noticed that in some cases, on the same day, both loaded Tanker Trucks passed on from bonded area & the same is shipped to foreign going vessels. Further, there is mis-match between the OIL RECORD BOOKS maintained in the barges and supply of bunker from the barges to vessels. In some cases, there is variation in Chief Engineer’s signatures in the export documents. It is also noticed that, Sh. Amit Dingwani employee of M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd had put signatures as of Chief Engineers of the vessels.  Further, I find that Customs Officers posted at Sikka Port was also not attending the supervision work of bunker supply to the foreign going vessels which is supported by their statements. Further, I find that the exporter was found to be involved in mis-representation of facts & fabrication of documents to show bunker supplies to the foreign going vessels.

32.4
In this regard, I rely on the case of Surjeet Singh Chhabra v. Union of India, 1997 (89) E.L.T. 646 (S.C.), the Supreme Court has held that confessional statement before Customs officer is an admission and binding since Customs officers are not police officers in terms of Section 25, Evidence Act, 1973. The Madras High Court in the case of Assistant Collector of Customs v. Govindasamy Ragupathy, 1998 (98) E.L.T. 50 (Mad.) held that confessional statement made under Sec. 108 of Customs Act, 1962 before Customs officers are to be regarded as voluntary. 
33.
In view of the above noticed discrepancies and irregularities, I find that no such bonded bunker were supplied to the foreign going vessels with regard to above referred shipping bills. Therefore, I do not find any merits in considering shipping bills and other export documents endorsed by the Customs Officers. 

33.1
I also find that the extended period of five years is correctly invoked for recovery of duties on all such diversion of bunker or non supplies to foreign going vessels. Further, as discussed in the foregoing paras, I find the bonder bunker diverted is liable for confiscation under Section 113(k) of the Customs Act, 1962.

34.
M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Gandhidham and Shri Dushyant Patel, being  its partner and one of the directors of barge operating company M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd. was decisively crucial and responsible for all the acts and omission of M/s World link and the barge operator company M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., which resulted in diversion of the bonded bunkers meant for foreign going vessels in the guise of illegal exports of the same. S/Sh. Gautam Sapui, Viman Ghosh and Girish Patel (Masters of the two barges) admitted in their respective statements that they were working under his directions; that S/Sh. Gautam Sapui and Biman Ghosh were merely Sailors and were in fact not competent to be the Master of any bunker barge or sailing vessel, however, to conceal such illegal practice, Sh. Girish Patel was shown as the Master of barge Hope Island-II on board, in the documents filed with the Customs, even after he had left his job in the company. In some of the S/Bs, it was found that Chief Engineer remarks/endorsements was admittedly made by Sh. Amit Dingwani, an employee of M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., apparently on his instructions as ultimately M/s World Link would be benefitted by such action. Besides this Sh. Patel also found to have suppressed the material fact of bunker supply from the concerned Custom’s authority to conceal the diversion, by not taking permission for “Let Export” and by not causing supply under supervision of Customs, which he was aware of being mandatory in nature. Further, the manipulation of Log Books, Oil Record Books of the  barges, were all done by him or under his instructions. The facts of non-supplies of bunkers, sale of the same to M/s Zee Shipping Services, as well as illegal exports/ supplies were admittedly done by him. The act of selling the bunkers to M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, instead exporting /supplying directly to the intended vessel in terms of S/B was a gross violation of the Warehousing Bond filed by M/s World link under Section 59 of the Customs Act, 1962 and also in serious breach of the provisions of Para 2.11 of the FTP. Hence, by various acts and omission as explained above Sh. Dushyant Patel was found to have actively aided and abetted the diversion / illegal sales of the bunker and thereby rendering all such bunker liable to confiscation in terms of provisions of Section 111 and Section 113 of the Customs Act, 1962, and for such act on his part he is liable for penal action under Section 112 (a), Section 114 (ii) and Section 114AA of the Customs Act, 1962.

35.
M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar was actively involved in the receipt of bonded bunker from M/s World link on the pretext of supply to foreign going vessels at Sikka, Bedi and Vadinar Ports. In his statement dated 24.08.2007, Sh. Rakesh Barai, partner, M/s Zee Shipping Services, accepted that the supply of bonded bunker in terms of S/B was arranged by them for M/s World link at Sikka, Vadinar, Bedi Ports. Further, wherever export /supplies of bonded bunkers were not confirmed, in terms of the S/B, Sh. Dushyant Patel admitted that the bunker supplies of M/s World link were handled by M/s Zee Shipping Services at Sikka, Bedi, Vadinar ports. The documents / files withdrawn from the office of M/s Zee Shipping, under panchanama dated 24.08.2007, contained such bunker supply documents therein which indicated that M/s Zee Shipping Services, were instrumental in diversion of the bunkers and also they knowingly and willfully aided diversion of bunkers in cases where permission for “Let Export” were not given and aided & abetted in supplies allegedly without supervision of Customs. The facts of non-supplies, as well as illegal exports were clearly admitted by Shri Manoj Khona, partner of M/s Zee Shipping Services. Further, it has been unearthed during investigations that supplies of bonded bunker by M/s World link, in many cases were shown to the foreign run vessels without “Let Export” permission as statutorily mandatory under Section 51 of the Customs Act, 1962, as well as in many cases, without supervision of the Customs as statutorily essential under Section 34 of the Customs Act, 1962. Hence, M/s Zee Shipping Services with their full indulgence in arranging the supplies of M/s World link, while obtaining permission of Customs for supply of bonded bunker, deliberately overlooked the mandatory legal provisions of “Let Export” and then facilitated M/s World link in showing supply of bonded bunkers without supervision by Customs, in violation of Section 51 and 34 of the Customs Act, 1962. Sh. Manoj Khona, in his statement dated 26.05.2011 accepted that after supply of bunker to the vessels, they were regularly receiving the duplicate and triplicate S/Bs in original, from the bunker supplier, for getting the same endorsed from the Customs, which apparently have never attended the same but signing the S/B in token of the same. Thus M/s Zee Shipping Services were actively involved with M/s World link, in diverting the bonded bunkers in collusion with M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., and then to regularize the same they were arranging for endorsements of the Customs Officers of the concerned Customs Office which was unlawful and in violation to the provisions of the Customs Act,1962. Sh. Amit Digwani of M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd. also admitted that he used to put his signatures in guise of Chief Engineer / Master of the recipient vessel, on instructions of M/s Zee Shipping. Hence, M/s Zee Shipping Services knowingly and willfully found to have concerned themselves in the diversion of bunker by M/s World link, in so far as their role was amply clear in view of the facts and the circumstances of the case as above. Hence, by their above acts and omission on their part M/s Zee Shipping Services, appears to have facilitated the M/s World link in causing diversion of the bonded bunkers under cover of the 09 S/Bs, and cumulatively which resulted in evasion of the Customs Duty amounting to Rs. 99,23,292/- (Rs. 78,65,138 on FO + Rs.20,58,154 on HSD) as well as rendered all such goods liable to confiscation in terms of provisions of Section 111 and 113 of the Customs Act,1962 and rendered themselves liable for penal action under Section 112 (b)  and 114 (ii) of the Customs Act,1962.

36.
M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., Gandhidham being Barge Owner Company for two barges namely Hope Island and Hope Island-II, has also actively aided and abetted M/s World link in causing diversion of the bonded bunker as discussed in the foregoing pars which resulted into evasion of Customs Duty amounting to Rs.99,23,292/- and also rendered all such goods liable to confiscation. M/s World link showed transportation of bonded bunkers in most of the cases through the two said barges viz. Hope Island & Hope Island-II, both owned by Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd.. The Log Books and Oil Record Books, maintained on the two barges were manipulated in order to show supplies which were never made. In the light of various evidences, discussed in the above paras as elaborated in Annexure-A to the SCN, it is quite clear that in the guise of ex-bond supplies of bonded bunker shown through two said barges the same were diverted elsewhere, however, through the Log Books and Oil Record Books of the two said barges the supplies were shown falsely to have been made. The transportation of supplies/exports of bonded bunker to vessels was handled by M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., and they failed to cause supplies in terms of S/Bs, which were also evident from the statements of Sh. Dushyant Patel. Moreover it also transpired from the statement of Sh. Girish Patel, Master of Barge Hope Island-II, that S/Sh. Gautam Sapui and Biman Ghosh were merely sailors who appeared before DRI as Masters on instructions of Shri Dushyant Patel and they were in fact not competent to be the Master of any bunker barge or sailing vessel and in order to conceal such illegal practice, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., kept on showing Sh. Girish Patel as the Master of barge Hope Island-II on board the barge in the documents filed with the Customs even after he had left the company. In view of the above it is amply clear that bunker barges Hope Island & Hope Island-II of M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd. were used in illegal diversion of the bonded stores imported duty free in terms of Section 58 and Section 85 of the Customs Act, 1962 for re-export thereof,   including for supply to the vessels under foreign run, in respect of which they have continuously been filing under taking under Section 59 of the Customs Act,1962. M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., by above acts and omissions on their part aided and abetted M/s World link in diversion of the bonded bunker and hence they have rendered themselves liable for penal action under Section 112(b) & 114(ii) of the Customs Act,1962.
 

37.
Therefore in view of the above, it appears that the 1467.710 MT of Furnace Oil valued at Rs. 2,33,44,669/- and 239.940 MT of HSD valued at Rs. 68,02,908/- (as per Duty Calculation Sheet-1 & Sheet-2 at Annexure-B to the Show Cause Notice) covered under the 09 S/Bs, as per Annexure-A to the SCN, shown by M/s World link  having been supplied to foreign going vessels, were actually diverted, in contravention  to the provisions of the Customs Act,1962  as discussed in the paras-supra,  the said quantity of the bonded bunker (covered under the S/Bs as per Annexure-A to his SCN), is liable for confiscation under Section 111(d) & 111 (o), 113 (f), 113 (g) & 113 (k) of the Customs Act,1962. Further Customs Duties amounting to Rs. 78,65,138/- on 1467.710 MT of Furnace Oil and Rs. 20,58,154/-, on 239.940 MT of HSD ( as per Annexure-A and Annexure-B to the SCN), are also liable to be recovered from M/s World link under Section 28 (4), read with provisions of Section 72(1) of the Customs Act,1962. M/s Worldlink are also liable to pay interest at applicable rate under Section 28 AA(1) of the Customs Act, 1962 for the reasons discussed in paras-supra. Further, all warehousing bonds / undertaking executed / furnished by them are required to be enforced to recover the duty foregone. The above discussed acts of omission and commission, World link rendered themselves liable for penal action under Section 112 (a), 114 (ii) and 114 A read with Section 72 of the Customs Act, 1962.

38.
Further, I also find that the various noticees have committed offence, and their roles had been examined by the then adjudicating authority in the earlier OIO and on going through the same, I have observed that the role of each and every noticee has been thoroughly examined and discussed in the said OIO. The penal action, as proposed in the impugned Show Cause Notice, has also been meticulously examined and discussed and detailed findings were given in the earlier OIO. I have also examined the role of various notices and I am in full agreement with the findings of the then Commissioner of Customs, Custom House, Kandla, in his OIO KDL/COMMR/41/2012-13 dated 29.11.2012.  I find that the then Commissioner of Customs, Kandla has duly considered the facts of the case and imposed suitable penalties. I do not see any reason to alter them and accordingly I retain the same.

39.
As I propose to impose mandatory penalty under Section 114A of the Customs Act, 1962. I refrain from imposing separate penalty under Section 112 (a) of the Customs Act, 1962, on M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Gandhidham.


40.
Further, as discussed in para supra that aggrieved by the Order –In – Original No. KDL/COMMR/41/2012-13 dated 29.11.2012 passed by my predecessor the noticees viz. M/s World Link TC Bond Store, M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd. and Sh. Dushyant Patel had filed appeal before the CESTAT, West Zonal Bench, Ahmedabad. The CESTAT, while recommending the ​de-novo adjudication in this matter vide its order A/11395-11397/2013 dated 24.10.2013, in appeal nos. C/10522, 536 & 537/2013-DB, also ordered the main applicant i.e. M/s World Link TC Bond Store, to deposit an amount of Rs. 10 Lakh and appear before the adjudicating authority. In compliance to this M/s World Link TC Bond Store had deposited the amount of Rs. 10,00,000/- vide Challan No. 34 dated 05.12.2013. In view of this the amount of Rs. 10,00,000/-, already deposited with the revenue is required to be appropriated against the demand. 
41.
In view of the above, I pass the following order: 

ORDER 

(a) 
I order confiscation of 1467.710 MTs of Fuel Oil valued at Rs. 2,33,44,669.00 and 239.940 MTs of HSD valued at Rs. 68,02,908.00 under Sections 111(d) & 111(o), 113(f), 113(g) and 113(k) of the Customs Act,1962. However, since the same is not physically available for confiscation, having been already cleared, I refrain from imposing any redemption fine in lieu of confiscation.

(b) 
I confirm the demand of Custom duty amounting to Rs. 99,23,292.00 (Rupees Ninety Nine Lakh Twenty Three Thousand Two Hundred Ninety Two only (Rs.78,65,138.00 on 1467.710 MTs of Furnace Oil + Rs.20,58,154.00 on 239.940 MTs of HSD) which was demanded under Section 28(4) read with Section 72(1) of the Customs Act,1962 and determine the same as amount of Customs Duty under Section 28(8) of the Customs Act, 1962, recoverable from M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No.306, Gandhidham, however, since they have already deposited Rs. 10.00 Lakh, I order to appropriate the amount of Rs. 10.00 Lakh against the demand. 
(c) 
I order the recovery of Interest at the appropriate rate from M/s World Link TC, Gandhidham, on the amount of duty as above at (b) under Section 28AB during relevant time and presently under Section 28AA(1) of the Customs Act, 1962.

(d) 
I Impose penalties as mentioned against each, on the following persons/firms. 
	Sl. No.
	Name of the person / firm
	Section of the Customs Act, 1962 under which penalty imposed
	Amount of penalty in figures
	Amount of penalty in words

	1
	M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No.306, Gandhidham
	114A
	Rs.99,23,292/-
	Rupees Ninety Nine lakh Twenty Three Thousand Two Hundred Ninety Two only

	
	
	TOTAL
	Rs.99,23,292/-
	Rupees Ninety Nine lakh Twenty Three Thousand Two Hundred Ninety Two only

	2
	M/s Zee Shipping Services, Flat No.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar
	112(b) 
	Rs.12,50,000/-
	Rupees Twelve lakh Fifty Thousand only

	
	
	114(ii)
	Rs.12,50,000/-
	Rupees Twelve lakh Fifty Thousand only

	
	
	TOTAL
	Rs.25,00,000/-
	Rupees Twenty Five Lakh only

	3
	M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No.306, Gandhidham
	112(b) 
	Rs.12,50,000/-
	Rupees Twelve lakh Fifty Thousand only

	
	
	114(ii)
	Rs.12,50,000/-
	Rupees Twelve lakh Fifty Thousand only

	
	
	TOTAL
	Rs.25,00,000/-
	Rupees Twenty Five Lakh only

	4
	Sh. Dushyant Patel, Partner, M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No:-306, Gandhidham,
	112(a) 
	Rs.5,00,000/-
	Rupees Five lakh only

	
	
	114(ii)
	Rs.5,00,000/-
	Rupees Five lakh only

	
	
	114AA
	Rs.10,00,000/-
	Rupees Ten lakh only

	
	
	TOTAL
	Rs.20,00,000/-
	Rupees Twenty Lakh only


(P.V.R Reddy)

Principal Commissioner 
By Registered Post A.D:
F. No. S/10-117/Adjn/2013-14


                             Dated:   20 .10.2015

To,

	1.
M/s World Link TC Bond Store,

Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, 

Plot No:-306, Gandhidham,


	2.
Sh. Dushyant Patel, Partner, 

M/s World Link TC Bond Store,

Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, 

Plot No:-306, Gandhidham

	3.
Zee Shipping Servicves,

Flat No.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, 

Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar
	4.
Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd.,

Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, 

Plot No:-306, Gandhidham


Copy to:
(1) The Additional Director General, DRI, Zonal Unit Ahmedabad. 

(2) The Assistant Commissioner of Customs (Bond), Custom House, Kandla.

(3) The Assistant Commissioner of Customs (Recovery), Custom House, Kandla

(4) The Assistant Commissioner of Customs (Review), Chief Commissioner’s Office, Gujarat Zone, Ahmedabad. 

(5) Guard File.
(P.V.R Reddy)

Principal Commissioner [image: image1.jpg]
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